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PART I ¾ FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1.  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

  
March 31,

2009   
December 31,

2008  
Assets       
Current assets:       
Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                            $ 9,566  $ 14,106 
Receivables from clients, net                                                                                             87,496   88,071 
Unbilled services, net                                                                                             47,734   43,111 
Income tax receivable                                                                                             2,295   3,496 
Deferred income taxes                                                                                             14,427   15,708 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets                                                                                             16,172   14,563 
Total current assets                                                                                          177,690   179,055 
Property and equipment, net                                                                                               43,760   44,708 
Deferred income taxes                                                                                               828   2,064 
Other non-current assets                                                                                               14,664   15,722 
Intangible assets, net                                                                                               29,317   32,372 
Goodwill                                                                                               506,544   505,676 
Total assets                                                                                              $ 772,803  $ 779,597 

         
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity         
Current liabilities:         
Accounts payable                                                                                            $ 7,547  $ 6,505 
Accrued expenses                                                                                             22,627   27,361 
Accrued payroll and related benefits                                                                                             29,642   48,374 
Accrued consideration for business acquisitions                                                                                             16,132   60,099 
Income tax payable                                                                                             1,412   2,086 
Deferred revenues                                                                                             20,096   21,208 
Current portion of capital lease obligations                                                                                             416   518 
Total current liabilities                                                                                          97,872   166,151 
Non-current liabilities:         
Deferred compensation and other liabilities                                                                                             6,694   5,511 
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion                                                                                             139   204 
Bank borrowings                                                                                             321,500   280,000 
Deferred lease incentives                                                                                             9,076   8,705 
Total non-current liabilities                                                                                          337,409   294,420 
Commitments and contingencies                                                                                               ¾   ¾ 
Stockholders’ equity         
Common stock; $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 22,038,006 and 21,387,679 shares issued at March
31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively   204   202 
Treasury stock, at cost, 516,375 and 404,357 shares at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively   (28,098)   (21,443)
Additional paid-in capital                                                                                               227,213   211,464 
Retained earnings                                                                                               139,003   128,752 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                                                                                               (800)   51 
Total stockholders’ equity                                                                                             337,522   319,026 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity                                                                                              $ 772,803  $ 779,597 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

  
Three months ended

March 31,  
  2009   2008  

Revenues and reimbursable expenses:       
Revenues  $ 163,009  $ 139,394 
Reimbursable expenses                                                                                                 14,240   11,613 
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses                                                                                              177,249   151,007 
Direct costs and reimbursable expenses (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization shown in operating expenses):         
Direct costs                                                                                                 99,131   83,444 
Intangible assets amortization                                                                                                 1,686   24 
Reimbursable expenses                                                                                                 14,300   11,610 
Total direct costs and reimbursable expenses                                                                                              115,117   95,078 
Operating expenses:         
Selling, general and administrative                                                                                                 34,531   30,162 
Depreciation and amortization                                                                                                 5,759   5,138 
Total operating expenses                                                                                              40,290   35,300 
Operating income                                                                                                 21,842   20,629 
Other income (expense):         
Interest expense, net of interest income                                                                                                 (2,733)   (1,833)
Other expense                                                                                                 (471)   (294)
Total other expense                                                                                              (3,204)   (2,127)
Income before provision for income taxes                                                                                                 18,638   18,502 
Provision for income taxes                                                                                                 8,387   8,289 
Net income                                                                                                $ 10,251  $ 10,213 

         
Earnings per share:         
Basic                                                                                             $ 0.52  $ 0.59 
Diluted                                                                                             $ 0.51  $ 0.56 

         
Weighted average shares used in calculating earnings per share:         
Basic                                                                                              19,528   17,372 
Diluted                                                                                              20,252   18,215 

         
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

  Common Stock                 

  Shares   Amount   
Treasury

Stock   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Compre-
hensive

Income (Loss)   
Stockholders’

Equity  
Balance at December 31, 2008   20,183,908  $ 202  $ (21,443)  $ 211,464  $ 128,752  $ 51  $ 319,026 
Comprehensive income:                             
Net income                                      ¾   ¾   ¾   ¾   10,251   ¾   10,251 
Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of
tax                                     ¾   ¾   ¾   ¾   ¾   (336)   (336)
Unrealized loss on cash flow
hedging instrument, net of tax   ¾   ¾   ¾   ¾   ¾   (515)   (515)
Total comprehensive income                           9,400 
Issuance of common stock in
connection with:                             
Restricted stock awards,
net of
cancellations                                     209,984   2   (5,107)   5,105   ¾   ¾   ¾ 
Exercise of stock options   14,184   ¾   ¾   43   ¾   ¾   43 
Share-based compensation   ¾   ¾   ¾   6,638   ¾   ¾   6,638 
Shares redeemed for employee
tax
withholdings                                      ¾   ¾   (1,548)   ¾   ¾   ¾   (1,548)
Income tax benefit on share-
based
compensation                                      ¾   ¾   ¾   3,963   ¾   ¾   3,963 
Balance at March 31, 2009   20,408,076  $ 204  $ (28,098)  $ 227,213  $ 139,003  $ (800)  $ 337,522 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

  
Three months ended

March 31,  
  2009   2008  
Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net income                                                                                                           $ 10,251  $ 10,213 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:         
Depreciation and amortization                                                                                                         7,445   5,162 
Share-based compensation                                                                                                         6,638   6,418 
Allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services   (1,261)   651 
Deferred income taxes                                                                                                         2,931   (1,487)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of businesses acquired:         
Decrease (increase) in receivables from clients                                                                                                       630   (2,823)
Increase in unbilled services                                                                                                       (4,564)   (11,752)
Decrease in current income tax receivable / payable, net                                                                                                       538   812 
Increase in other assets                                                                                                       (503)   (1,094)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                                                                       532   1,815 
Decrease in accrued payroll and related benefits                                                                                                       (18,838)   (36,697)
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenues                                                                                                       (1,747)   332 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities                                                                                                     2,052   (28,450)
         
Cash flows from investing activities:         
Purchases of property and equipment, net                                                                                                            (3,598)   (5,530)
Net investment in life insurance policies                                                                                                            (154)   (878)
Purchases of businesses, net of cash acquired                                                                                                            (46,203)   (10,153)
Net cash used in investing activities                                                                                                     (49,955)   (16,561)
         
Cash flows from financing activities:         
Proceeds from exercise of stock options                                                                                                            43   136 
Shares redeemed for employee tax withholdings                                                                                                            (1,548)   (5,491)
Tax benefit from share-based compensation                                                                                                            3,963   8,018 
Proceeds from borrowings under credit facility                                                                                                            100,500   101,500 
Repayments on credit facility                                                                                                            (59,000)   (48,000)
Payments of capital lease obligations                                                                                                            (98)   (214)
Net cash provided by financing activities                                                                                                     43,860   55,949 
         
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash                                                                                                            (497)   346 
         
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                            (4,540)   11,284 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period                                                                                                            14,106   2,993 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period                                                                                                           $ 9,566  $ 14,277 
         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
1. Description of Business

We are a leading provider of operational and financial consulting services. We help clients in diverse industries improve performance, comply with complex
regulations, resolve disputes, recover from distress, leverage technology, and stimulate growth. We team with our clients to deliver sustainable and
measurable results. Our clients include a wide variety of both financially sound and distressed organizations, including leading academic institutions,
healthcare organizations, Fortune 500 companies, medium-sized businesses, and the law firms that represent these various organizations.

2. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. In the opinion of management, these financial statements reflect all adjustments of a normal, recurring nature necessary for the fair
presentation of our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2008 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our results for any interim period are not
necessarily indicative of results for a full year or any other interim period.

3.  New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value measurements in financial statements, but standardizes its definition and guidance in
GAAP. We adopted SFAS No. 157 effective beginning on January 1, 2008 for financial assets and financial liabilities, which did not have any impact on our
financial statements. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” which
delayed by one year the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at
fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). We adopted SFAS No. 157 effective beginning on January 1, 2009 for
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, which did not have any impact on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations,” (“SFAS No. 141R”). SFAS No. 141R was issued to improve
the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of information in financial statements about a business combination and its effects. This
statement retains the purchase method of accounting for business combinations, but requires a number of changes. The changes that may have the most
significant impact on us include: contingent consideration, such as earn-outs, will be recognized at its fair value on the acquisition date and, for certain
arrangements, changes in fair value will be recognized in earnings until settled; acquisition-related transaction and restructuring costs will be expensed as
incurred; previously-issued financial information will be revised for subsequent adjustments made to finalize the purchase price accounting; reversals of
valuation allowances related to acquired deferred tax assets and changes to acquired income tax uncertainties will be recognized in earnings, except in certain
situations. In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP FAS 141(R)-1, “Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That
Arise from Contingences,” which requires an acquirer to recognize at fair value, an asset acquired or a liability assumed in a business combination that arises
from a contingency provided the asset or liability’s fair value can be determined on the date of acquisition. We adopted SFAS No. 141R on a prospective basis
effective beginning on January 1, 2009. For business combinations completed on or subsequent to the adoption date, the application of this statement may
have a significant impact on our financial statements, the magnitude of which will depend on the specific terms and conditions of the transactions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements – an amendment of ARB No. 51.” SFAS
No. 160 was issued to improve the relevance, comparability, and
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

transparency of financial information provided in financial statements by establishing accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a
subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. We adopted SFAS No. 160 effective beginning on January 1, 2009. The adoption of this statement did
not have any impact on our financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities – an amendment of FASB Statement No.
133.” SFAS No. 161 was issued to improve transparency of financial information provided in financial statements by requiring expanded disclosures about an
entity’s derivative and hedging activities.  This statement requires entities to provide expanded disclosures about: how and why an entity uses derivative
instruments; how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133; and how derivative instruments and related hedged
items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. We adopted SFAS No. 161 effective beginning on January 1, 2009. The
adoption of this statement did not have any impact on our financial statements as it contains only disclosure requirements.

4. Business Combination

Stockamp & Associates, Inc.
In July 2008, we acquired Stockamp & Associates, Inc. (“Stockamp”), a management consulting firm specializing in helping high-performing hospitals and
health systems optimize their financial and operational performance. With the acquisition of Stockamp, we expanded our presence in the hospital consulting
market and are better positioned to serve multiple segments of the healthcare industry, including major health systems, academic medical centers and
community hospitals. This acquisition was consummated on July 8, 2008 and the results of operations of Stockamp have been included within our Health and
Education Consulting segment since that date.

The aggregate purchase price of this acquisition was approximately $230.9 million, consisting of $168.5 million in cash paid at closing, $50.0 million paid
through the issuance of 1,100,740 shares of our common stock, $1.8 million of transaction costs, $9.6 million of additional purchase price earned by selling
shareholders subsequent to the acquisition, as certain performance targets were met, and a $1.0 million working capital adjustment.  Of the 1,100,740 shares
of common stock issued, 330,222 shares with an aggregate value of $15.0 million were deposited into escrow for a period of one year, beginning on July 8,
2008, to secure certain indemnification obligations of Stockamp and its shareholders.  Because the shares placed in escrow have been issued conditionally
since they may be returned to us in satisfaction of indemnification arrangements, the $15.0 million is classified as a liability and included in accrued
consideration for business acquisitions on our consolidated balance sheet. The cash portion of the purchase price was financed with borrowings under our
credit agreement.

The purchase agreement also provides for the following potential payments:

1.  With respect to the shares of common stock not placed in escrow, on the date that is six months and one day after the closing date (the “Contingent
Payment Date”), we were to pay Stockamp (in cash, shares of common stock, or any combination of cash and common stock, at our election) the amount,
if any, equal to $35.0 million less the value of the common stock issued on the closing date, based on 95% of the average daily closing price per share of
common stock for the ten consecutive trading days prior to the Contingent Payment Date. No payment needed to be made if the common stock so valued
equaled or exceeded $35.0 million on the Contingent Payment Date. We were not required to make further payments upon the lapse of the Contingent
Payment Date in January 2009.

2.  With respect to the shares of common stock placed in escrow, when the shares are released to Stockamp (the “Contingent Escrow Payment Date”), we
will pay Stockamp (in cash, shares of common stock, or any combination of cash and common stock at our election) the amount, if any, equal to
$15.0 million (or such pro rata portion thereof, to the extent fewer than all shares are being released) less the value of the common stock released from
escrow based on 95% of the average daily closing price per share of common stock for the ten consecutive trading days prior to the Contingent Escrow
Payment Date. No payment will be made if the common stock so valued equals or exceeds $15.0 million on the Contingent Escrow Payment Date (or the
applicable pro rata portion thereof). Any additional payment resulting from this price protection will not change the purchase consideration. Upon the
lapse of the Contingent Escrow Payment Date in July 2009, the escrow liability balance and any price protection payment will be recorded to equity.
Based on the average daily closing price of our common stock for the ten consecutive trading days prior to and including March 31, 2009, we would be
obligated to make a price protection payment of approximately $1.8 million to Stockamp.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

3.  For the period beginning on the closing date and ending on December 31, 2011, additional purchase consideration may be payable to the selling
shareholders if specific financial performance targets are met. These payments are not contingent upon the continued employment of the selling
shareholders. Such amounts will be recorded as additional purchase consideration and an adjustment to goodwill. Since the closing date of this
acquisition, we have paid to the selling shareholders $9.6 million as additional purchase consideration.

Based on a preliminary valuation that is subject to refinement, the identifiable intangible assets that were acquired totaled approximately $31.1 million and
have an estimated weighted average useful life of 6 years, which consists of customer contracts totaling $5.4 million (7 months useful life), customer
relationships totaling $10.8 million (12.5 years useful life), software totaling $7.8 million (4 years useful life), non-competition agreements totaling
$3.7 million (6 years useful life), and a tradename valued at $3.4 million (2.5 years useful life). Customer relationships represent software support and
maintenance relationships that are renewable by the customer on an annual basis. The renewal rate of these relationships has historically been high and as
such, we have assigned a relatively long useful life to these customer relationships. Additionally, we recorded approximately $196.6 million of goodwill,
which we intend to deduct for income tax purposes.

Purchase Price Allocation
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

  

(Preliminary)
Stockamp

July 8,
2008  

Assets Acquired:    
Current assets                                                                                                                 $ 16,486 
Property and equipment                                                                                                                  2,176 
Non-current assets                                                                                                                  547 
Intangible assets                                                                                                                  31,100 
Goodwill                                                                                                                  196,562 
   246,871 
Liabilities Assumed:     
Current liabilities                                                                                                                  15,494 
Current and non-current capital lease obligations                                                                                                                  525 
   16,019 
     
Net Assets Acquired                                                                                                                   $ 230,852 
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
Pro Forma Financial Data
The following unaudited pro forma financial data for the three months ended March 31, 2008 give effect to the acquisition of Stockamp as if it had been
completed at the beginning of the period presented. The actual results from the acquisition of Stockamp have been included within our consolidated financial
results since July 8, 2008.

  

Three
Months
Ended

March 31,
2008  

Revenues, net of reimbursable expenses                                                                                                                  $ 172,445 
Operating income                                                                                                                  $ 33,152 
Income before provision for income taxes                                                                                                                  $ 28,957 
Net income                                                                                                                  $ 16,381 
Earnings per share:     
Basic                                                                                                                $ 0.90 
Diluted                                                                                                                $ 0.85 

The above unaudited pro forma financial data are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been achieved if the acquisition had occurred on the
date indicated, nor are they necessarily indicative of future results.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The table below sets forth the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2009.

  

Health and
Education
Consulting   

Accounting
and

Financial
Consulting   

Legal
Consulting   

Corporate
Consulting   Total  

Balance as of December 31, 2008                                     $ 341,752  $ 73,341  $ 17,456  $ 73,127  $ 505,676 
Additional purchase price subsequently recorded for business
combinations   288   ¾   601   (21)   868 
Balance as of March 31, 2009                                     $ 342,040  $ 73,341  $ 18,057  $ 73,106  $ 506,544 

Intangible assets as of March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 consisted of the following:

  March 31, 2009   December 31, 2008  

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  

Customer contracts                                               $ 5,650  $ 5,525  $ 5,650  $ 4,800 
Customer relationships                                                21,250   9,339   21,250   8,423 
Non-competition agreements   12,473   4,121   12,473   3,558 
Tradenames                                                3,400   992   3,400   652 
Technology and software                                                8,275   1,754   8,275   1,243 
Total                                            $ 51,048  $ 21,731  $ 51,048  $ 18,676 

Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Customer contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over
relatively short lives due to the short-term nature of the services provided under these contracts. The majority of the customer relationships are amortized on
an accelerated basis to correspond to the cash flows expected to be derived from the relationships. Non-competition agreements, tradenames, and technology
and software are amortized on a straight-line basis.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
Intangible assets amortization expense was $3.1 million and $1.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Estimated
intangible assets amortization expense is $10.2 million for 2009, $7.5 million for 2010, $5.2 million for 2011, $3.5 million for 2012, $1.8 million for 2013,
and $1.1 million for 2014.  Actual amortization expense could differ from these estimated amounts as a result of the finalization of the Stockamp valuation,
future acquisitions and other factors.

6. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the
period, excluding unvested restricted common stock and unvested restricted stock units. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential reduction in earnings
per share that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock under the treasury stock
method. Earnings per share under the basic and diluted computations are as follows:

  
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
  2009   2008  
Net income                                                                                            $ 10,251  $ 10,213 
         
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic                                                                                             19,528   17,372 
Weighted average common stock equivalents                                                                                             724   843 
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted   20,252   18,215 
         
Basic earnings per share                                                                                            $ 0.52  $ 0.59 
Diluted earnings per share                                                                                            $ 0.51  $ 0.56 

There were approximately 708,200 and 217,600 anti-dilutive securities for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

7. Borrowings

At March 31, 2009, we had a credit agreement with various financial institutions under which we may borrow up to $460.0 million, with an accordion feature
allowing for an additional amount of up to $60.0 million to be borrowed upon approval from the lenders. The credit agreement consists of a $240.0 million
revolving credit facility (“Revolver”) and a $220.0 million term loan facility (“Term Loan”), which was drawn in a single advance of $220.0 million on
July 8, 2008 to fund, in part, our acquisition of Stockamp. The borrowing capacity under the credit agreement is reduced by any outstanding letters of credit
and payments under the Term Loan. At March 31, 2009, outstanding letters of credit totaled $5.7 million and are used as security deposits for our office
facilities. As of March 31, 2009, the borrowing capacity under the credit agreement was $116.3 million.

The Revolver and Term Loan are secured by a pledge of 100% of the voting stock or other equity interests in our domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the voting
stock or other equity interests in our foreign subsidiaries. Fees and interest on borrowings vary based on our total debt to earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio as set forth in the credit agreement.  Interest is based on a spread, ranging from 1.50% to 2.50%, over the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or a spread, ranging from 0.50% to 1.50%, over the base rate (which is the greater of the Federal Funds Rate plus
0.50% or the Prime Rate), as selected by us. The Term Loan is subject to amortization of principal in fifteen consecutive quarterly installments that began on
September 30, 2008, with the first fourteen installments being $5.5 million each. The fifteenth and final installment will be the amount of the remaining
outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan and will be payable on February 23, 2012, but can be repaid earlier. All outstanding borrowings under the
Revolver will be due upon expiration of the credit agreement on February 23, 2012. The credit agreement includes quarterly financial covenants that require
us to maintain certain fixed coverage and total debt to EBITDA ratios. Under the credit agreement, dividends are restricted to an amount up to $10.0 million
per fiscal year plus 50% of consolidated net income (adjusted for non-cash share-based
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compensation expense) for such fiscal year, plus 50% of net cash proceeds during such fiscal year with respect to any issuance of capital securities. In
addition, certain acquisitions and similar transactions will need to be approved by the lenders.

Borrowings outstanding under this credit facility at March 31, 2009 totaled $321.5 million and carried a weighted-average interest rate of 3.0%, all of which
are classified as long-term on our consolidated balance sheet as the principal under the Revolver is not due until 2012 and we intend to fund scheduled
quarterly payments under the Term Loan with availability under the Revolver. Borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2008 were $280.0 million and carried
a weighted-average interest rate of 3.1%. At both March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we were in compliance with our financial debt covenants.

8. Derivative Instrument and Hedging Activity

On March 20, 2009, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $100.0 million effective on March 31, 2009 and ending on
February 23, 2012. We entered into this derivative instrument to hedge against the risk of changes in future cash flows related to changes in interest rates on
$100.0 million of the total variable-rate borrowings outstanding described above in note “7.  Borrowings.” Under the terms of the interest rate swap
agreement, we will receive from the counterparty interest on the $100.0 million notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we will pay to the
counterparty a fixed rate of 1.715%. This swap effectively converted $100.0 million of our variable-rate borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings beginning on
March 31, 2009 and through February 23, 2012.

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”), requires companies to recognize all derivative
instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value on the balance sheet. In accordance with SFAS No. 133, we have designated this derivative instrument as
a cash flow hedge. As such, changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) to the
extent of effectiveness. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative instrument is recognized in interest expense.

The table below sets forth additional information relating to this interest rate swap designated as a hedging instrument as of March 31, 2009.

Balance Sheet Location  

Fair Value
(Derivative
Liability)   

Amount of
Loss

Recognized
in OCI  

Deferred compensation and other liabilities                                                                                                     $ 867  $ 867 

We do not use derivative instruments for trading or other speculative purposes and we did not have any other derivative instruments or hedging activities as of
March 31, 2009.

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Certain of our assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or the price
that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value
hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value and requires companies to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs. The fair value hierarchy consists of three levels based on the objectivity of the inputs as follows:

Level 1 Inputs Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the
measurement date.
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Level 2 Inputs Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets

that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; or inputs that are derived principally
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 Inputs Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, and include situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or
liability.

The table below sets forth our fair value hierarchy for our derivative liability measured at fair value as of March 31, 2009.

  

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)   Total  

Liability:             
Interest rate swap                                                            $ —  $ 867  $ —  $ 867 

The fair value of the interest rate swap was derived using estimates to settle the interest rate swap agreement, which is based on the net present value of
expected future cash flows on each leg of the swap utilizing market-based inputs and discount rates reflecting the risks involved.

10. Comprehensive Income

The table below sets forth the components of comprehensive income for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008.

  
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2009   
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2008  

  
Before
Taxes   

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit   Net of Taxes   
Before
Taxes   

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit   Net of Taxes  
Net income                                         $ 10,251        $ 10,213 
Other comprehensive income (loss):                     
Foreign currency translation adjustment  $ (252)  $ (84)   (336)  $ 346  $ —   346 
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedging
instrument                                 (867)   352   (515)   —   —   — 
Comprehensive income (loss)  $ (1,119)  $ 268  $ 9,400  $ 346  $ —  $ 10,559 
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11. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
On July 3, 2007, The Official Committee (the “Committee”) of Unsecured Creditors of Saint Vincents Catholic Medical Centers of New York d/b/a Saint
Vincent Catholic Medical Centers (“St. Vincents”), et al. filed suit against Huron Consulting Group Inc., certain of our subsidiaries, including Speltz & Weis
LLC, and two of our former managing directors, David E. Speltz (“Speltz”) and Timothy C. Weis (“Weis”), in the Supreme Court of the State of New York,
County of New York. On November 26, 2007, Gray & Associates, LLC (“Gray”), in its capacity as trustee on behalf of the SVCMC Litigation Trust, was
substituted as plaintiff in the place of the Committee and on February 19, 2008, Gray filed an amended complaint in the action. Beginning in 2004, St.
Vincents retained Speltz & Weis LLC to provide management services to St. Vincents, and its two principals, Speltz and Weis, were made the interim chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, respectively, of St. Vincents. In May of 2005, we acquired Speltz & Weis LLC.  On July 5, 2005, St. Vincents
filed for bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (“Bankruptcy Court”). On December 14, 2005, the
Bankruptcy Court approved the retention of Speltz & Weis LLC and us in various capacities, including interim management, revenue cycle management and
strategic sourcing services. The amended complaint filed by Gray alleges, among other things, breach of fiduciary duties, breach of the New York Not-For-
Profit Corporation Law, malpractice, breach of contract, tortious interference with contract, aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duties, certain fraudulent
transfers and fraudulent conveyances, breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, fraud, aiding and abetting fraud, negligent misrepresentation,
and civil conspiracy, and seeks at least $200 million in damages, disgorgement of fees, return of funds or other property transferred to Speltz & Weis LLC,
attorneys’ fees, and unspecified punitive and other damages. We believe that the claims are without merit and intend to vigorously defend ourselves in this
matter. The suit is in the pre-trial stage and no trial date has been set.

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business.  As of the filing date of this quarterly report
on Form 10-Q, we are not a party to or threatened with any other litigation or legal proceeding that, in the opinion of management, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations. However, due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in legal proceedings, actual results could
differ from current expected results.

Guarantees
Guarantees in the form of letters of credit totaling $5.7 million were outstanding at both March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 to support certain office
lease obligations.

In connection with certain business acquisitions, we are required to pay additional purchase consideration to the sellers if specific performance targets and
conditions are met over a number of years as specified in the related purchase agreements. These amounts are calculated and payable at the end of each year
based on full year financial results. There is no limitation to the maximum amount of additional purchase consideration and future amounts are not
determinable at this time, but the aggregate amount that potentially may be paid could be significant. Additional purchase consideration earned by certain
sellers totaled $46.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.

To the extent permitted by law, our by-laws and articles of incorporation require that we indemnify our officers and directors against judgments, fines and
amounts paid in settlement, including attorney’s fees, incurred in connection with civil or criminal action or proceedings, as it relates to their services to us if
such person acted in good faith. Although there is no limit on the amount of indemnification, we may have recourse against our insurance carrier for certain
payments made.

12. Segment Information

Segments are defined by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” as components of a company in which
separate financial information is available and is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker manages the business under four operating segments: Health and
Education Consulting, Accounting and Financial Consulting, Legal
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Consulting, and Corporate Consulting.

·  Health and Education Consulting.  This segment provides consulting services to hospitals, health systems, physicians, managed care organizations,
academic medical centers, colleges, universities, and pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers. This segment’s professionals develop and
implement solutions to help clients address financial management, strategy, operational and organizational effectiveness, research administration, and
regulatory compliance. This segment also provides consulting services related to hospital or healthcare organization performance improvement, revenue
cycle improvement, turnarounds, merger or affiliation strategies, labor productivity, non-labor cost management, information technology, patient flow
improvement, physician practice management, interim management, clinical quality and medical management, and governance and board development.

·  Accounting and Financial Consulting.  This segment assists corporations with complex accounting and financial reporting matters, financial analysis in
business disputes, international arbitration and litigation, as well as valuation analysis related to business acquisitions. This segment also consults with
management in the areas of internal audit and corporate tax. Additionally, the Accounting and Financial Consulting segment provides experienced project
leadership and consultants with a variety of financial and accounting credentials and prior corporate experience on an as-needed basis to assist clients
with finance and accounting projects. This segment is comprised of certified public accountants, economists, certified fraud examiners, chartered
financial analysts and valuation experts who serve attorneys and corporations as expert witnesses and consultants in connection with business disputes, as
well as in regulatory or internal investigations.

·  Legal Consulting.  This segment provides guidance and business services to corporate law departments and government agencies by helping to reduce
legal spending, enhance client service delivery and increase operational effectiveness. These services include digital evidence and discovery services,
document review, law firm management services, records management, and strategic and operational improvements.

·  Corporate Consulting.  This segment leads clients through various stages of transformation that result in measurable and sustainable performance
improvement. This segment works with clients to solve complex business problems and implements strategies and solutions to effectively address
and manage stagnant or declining stock price, acquisitions and divestitures, process inefficiency, third party contracting difficulties, lack of or misaligned
performance measurements, margin and cost pressures, performance issues, bank defaults, covenant violations, and liquidity issues. This segment also
provides restructuring and turnaround consulting assistance to financially distressed companies, creditor constituencies, and other stakeholders in
connection with out-of-court restructurings and bankruptcy proceedings.

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of revenue and selling, general and administrative costs that
are incurred directly by the segment. Unallocated corporate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in a centralized manner
that are not attributable to a particular segment. These administrative function costs include costs for corporate office support, certain office facility costs,
costs relating to accounting and finance, human resources, legal, marketing, information technology and company-wide business development functions, as
well as costs related to overall corporate management.

The table below sets forth information about our operating segments for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, along with the items necessary to
reconcile the segment information to the totals reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Three Months Ended

March 31,  
  2009   2008  

Health and Education Consulting:       
Revenues                                                                                           $ 93,557  $ 51,088 
Operating income                                                                                           $ 37,129  $ 22,132 
Segment operating income as a percent of segment revenues   39.7%  43.3%
Accounting and Financial Consulting:         
Revenues                                                                                           $ 24,440  $ 38,811 
Operating income                                                                                           $ 2,528  $ 9,589 
Segment operating income as a percent of segment revenues   10.3%  24.7%
Legal Consulting:         
Revenues                                                                                           $ 22,868  $ 25,223 
Operating income                                                                                           $ 3,241  $ 6,587 
Segment operating income as a percent of segment revenues   14.2%  26.1%
Corporate Consulting:         
Revenues                                                                                           $ 22,144  $ 24,272 
Operating income                                                                                           $ 8,175  $ 9,377 
Segment operating income as a percent of segment revenues   36.9%  38.6%
Total Company:         
Revenues                                                                                           $ 163,009  $ 139,394 
Reimbursable expenses                                                                                            14,240   11,613 
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses                                                                                           $ 177,249  $ 151,007 

         
Statement of operations reconciliation:         
Segment operating income                                                                                           $ 51,073  $ 47,685 
Charges not allocated at the segment level:         
  Other selling, general and administrative expenses                                                                                            23,472   21,918 
  Depreciation and amortization expense                                                                                            5,759   5,138 
  Other expense, net                                                                                            3,204   2,127 
Income before provision for income taxes                                                                                           $ 18,638  $ 18,502 
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ITEM 2.                      MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Huron,” “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Huron
Consulting Group Inc. and its subsidiaries.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements are identified by words such as “may,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,”
“estimates,” or “continues” or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements reflect our current expectation
about our future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements, including without limitation, that our business continues to grow at the current
expectations with respect to, among other factors, utilization rates, billing rates and the number of revenue-generating professionals; that we are able to
expand our service offerings; that we successfully integrate the businesses we acquire; and that existing market conditions, including those in the credit
markets, do not continue to deteriorate substantially. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause
actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Please see “Risk Factors” in our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete
description of the material risks we face.

OVERVIEW

Our Business
Huron is a leading provider of operational and financial consulting services. We help clients in diverse industries improve performance, comply with complex
regulations, resolve disputes, recover from distress, leverage technology, and stimulate growth. We team with our clients to deliver sustainable and
measurable results. Many of our highly experienced professionals have master’s degrees in business or healthcare administration, doctorates in economics,
are certified public accountants, or are accredited valuation specialists and forensic accountants. Our professionals employ their expertise in healthcare
administration, accounting, finance, economics and operations to provide our clients with specialized analyses and customized advice and solutions that are
tailored to address each client’s particular challenges and opportunities. We provide consulting services to a wide variety of both financially sound and
distressed organizations, including leading academic institutions, healthcare organizations, Fortune 500 companies, medium-sized businesses, and the law
firms that represent these various organizations.

We provide our services and manage our business under four operating segments: Health and Education Consulting, Accounting and Financial Consulting,
Legal Consulting, and Corporate Consulting.

·  Health and Education Consulting.  Our Health and Education Consulting segment provides consulting services to hospitals, health systems, physicians,
managed care organizations, academic medical centers, colleges, universities, and pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers. This segment’s
professionals develop and implement solutions to help clients address financial management, strategy, operational and organizational effectiveness,
research administration, and regulatory compliance. This segment also provides consulting services related to hospital or healthcare organization
performance improvement, revenue cycle improvement, turnarounds, merger of affiliation strategies, labor productivity, non-labor cost management,
information technology, patient flow improvement, physician practice management, interim management, clinical quality and medical management, and
governance and board development.

·  Accounting and Financial Consulting.  Our Accounting and Financial Consulting segment assists corporations with complex accounting and financial
reporting matters, financial analysis in business disputes, international arbitration and litigation, as well as valuation analysis related to business
acquisitions. This segment also consults with clients in the areas of internal audit and corporate tax. Additionally, the Accounting and Financial
Consulting segment provides experienced project leadership and consultants with a variety of financial and accounting credentials and prior corporate
experience on an as-needed to assist clients with finance and accounting projects. This segment is comprised of certified public accountants, economists,
certified fraud examiners, chartered financial analysts and valuation experts who serve attorneys and corporations as expert witnesses and consultants in
connection with business disputes, as well as in regulatory or internal investigations.
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·  Legal Consulting.  Our Legal Consulting segment provides guidance and business services to address the challenges that confront today’s legal

organizations. These services add value to corporate law departments and government agencies by helping to reduce legal spending, enhance client
service delivery, and increase operational effectiveness. This segment provides measurable results in the areas of digital evidence and discovery services,
document review, law firm management services, records management, and strategic and operational improvements. Included in this segment’s offerings
is V3locity™, a per page fixed price e-discovery service providing data and document processing, hosting, review and production.

·  Corporate Consulting.  Our Corporate Consulting segment leads clients through various stages of transformation that result in measurable and
sustainable performance improvement. This segment works with clients to solve complex business problems and implements strategies and solutions to
effectively address and manage stagnant or declining stock price, acquisitions and divestitures, process inefficiency, third party contracting difficulties,
lack of or misaligned performance measurements, margin and cost pressures, performance issues, bank defaults, covenant violations, and liquidity issues.
This segment also provides restructuring and turnaround consulting assistance to financially distressed companies, creditor constituencies, and other
stakeholders in connection with out-of-court restructurings and bankruptcy proceedings.

How We Generate Revenues
A large portion of our revenues is generated by our full-time billable consultants who provide consulting services to our clients and are billed based on the
number of hours worked. A smaller portion of our revenues is generated by our other professionals, consisting of finance and accounting consultants,
specialized operational consultants, and contract reviewers, all of whom work variable schedules, as needed by our clients. Other professionals also include
our document review and electronic data discovery groups, as well as full-time employees who provide software support and maintenance services to our
clients. Our document review and electronic data discovery groups generate revenues primarily based on number of hours worked and units produced, such as
pages reviewed or amount of data processed. We translate the hours that these other professionals work on client engagements into a full-time equivalent
measure that we use to manage our business. We refer to our full-time billable consultants and other professionals collectively as revenue-generating
professionals.

Revenues generated by our full-time billable consultants are primarily driven by the number of consultants we employ and their utilization rates, as well as
the billing rates we charge our clients. Revenues generated by our full-time equivalents are largely dependent on the number of consultants we employ, their
hours worked and billing rates charged, as well as the number of pages reviewed and amount of data processed in the case of our document review and
electronic data discovery groups, respectively.

We generate the majority of our revenues from providing professional services under three types of billing arrangements: time-and-expense, fixed-fee, and
performance-based.

Time-and-expense billing arrangements require the client to pay based on either the number of hours worked, the number of pages reviewed, or the amount of
data processed by our revenue-generating professionals at agreed upon rates. We recognize revenues under time-and-expense billing arrangements as the
related services are rendered. Time-and-expense engagements represented 47.9% and 71.1% of our revenues in the three months ended March 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively.

In fixed-fee billing arrangements, we agree to a pre-established fee in exchange for a pre-determined set of professional services. We set the fees based on our
estimates of the costs and timing for completing the engagements. It is the client’s expectation in these engagements that the pre-established fee will not be
exceeded except in mutually agreed upon circumstances. We recognize revenues under fixed-fee billing arrangements using the percentage-of-completion
method, which is based on our estimate of work completed to-date versus the total services to be provided under the engagement. For the three months ended
March 31, 2009 and 2008, fixed-fee engagements represented 41.4% and 27.2% of our revenues, respectively. The increase partly resulted from our
acquisition of Stockamp & Associates, Inc. in July 2008, which primarily has fixed-fee engagements.
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In performance-based fee billing arrangements, fees are tied to the attainment of contractually defined objectives. We enter into performance-based
engagements in essentially two forms. First, we have performance-based engagements in which we earn a success fee when and if certain pre-defined
outcomes occur. Second, we generally earn fees that are directly related to the savings formally acknowledged by the client as a result of adopting our
recommendations for improving cost effectiveness in the procurement area. Often this type of success fee supplements time-and-expense or fixed-fee
engagements. We do not recognize revenues under performance-based billing arrangements until all related performance criteria are met. Performance-based
fee revenues represented 9.3% and 1.7% of our revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. We recognized a higher level of
performance-based revenues during the first quarter of 2009 upon meeting performance criteria associated with several Stockamp engagements. Performance-
based fee engagements may cause significant variations in quarterly revenues and operating results due to the timing of achieving the performance-based
criteria.

We also generate revenues from licensing our proprietary software to clients and from providing related training and support during the term of the consulting
engagement. Revenues from software licenses are recognized ratably over the term of the related consulting services contract. Thereafter, clients pay an
annual fee for software support and maintenance. Annual support and maintenance fee revenue is recognized ratably over the support period, which is
generally one year. These fees are billed in advance and included in deferred revenues until recognized. For the three months ended March 31, 2009, support
and maintenance revenues represented 1.4% of our revenues. We did not have any support and maintenance revenues during the three months ended
March 31, 2008.

We also bill our clients for reimbursable expenses such as travel and out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection with engagements. We manage our business
on the basis of revenues before reimbursable expenses. We believe this is the most accurate reflection of our services because it eliminates the effect of these
reimbursable expenses that we bill to our clients at cost.

Our quarterly results are impacted principally by our full-time billable consultants’ utilization rate, the number of business days in each quarter and the
number of our revenue-generating professionals who are available to work. Our utilization rate can be negatively affected by increased hiring because there is
generally a transition period for new professionals that results in a temporary drop in our utilization rate. Our utilization rate can also be affected by seasonal
variations in the demand for our services from our clients. For example, during the third and fourth quarters of the year, vacations taken by our clients can
result in the deferral of activity on existing and new engagements, which would negatively affect our utilization rate. The number of business work days is
also affected by the number of vacation days taken by our consultants and holidays in each quarter. We typically have fewer business work days available in
the fourth quarter of the year, which can impact revenues during that period.

Business Strategy, Opportunities and Challenges
Our primary strategy is to meet the needs of our clients by providing a balanced portfolio of service offerings and capabilities, so that we can adapt quickly
and effectively to emerging opportunities in the marketplace.  To achieve this, we have entered into select acquisitions of complementary businesses and
continue to hire highly qualified professionals.

Time-and-expense engagements do not provide us with a high degree of predictability as to performance in future periods. Unexpected changes in the demand
for our services can result in significant variations in utilization and revenues and present a challenge to optimal hiring and staffing. Moreover, our clients
typically retain us on an engagement-by-engagement basis, rather than under long-term recurring contracts. The volume of work performed for any particular
client can vary widely from period to period.

To expand our business, we will remain focused on growing our existing relationships and developing new relationships, continue to promote and provide an
integrated approach to service delivery, broaden the scope of our existing services, and continue to acquire complementary businesses. Additionally, we
intend to enhance our visibility in the marketplace by continuing to build our brand.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP.  The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make assessments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period.  Critical accounting policies are those policies that we believe present the most complex or subjective measurements and have the most
potential to impact our financial position and operating results.  While all decisions regarding accounting policies are important, we believe that there are four
accounting policies that could be considered critical.  These critical accounting policies relate to revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts and
unbilled services, carrying values of goodwill and other intangible assets, and valuation of net deferred tax assets. For a detailed discussion of these critical
accounting policies, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical Accounting Policies” in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.  There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies during the
first quarter of 2009.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The table below sets forth selected segment and consolidated operating results and other operating data for the periods indicated. Segment operating income
consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of revenue and selling, general and administrative costs that are incurred directly by the
segment. Unallocated corporate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in a centralized manner that are not attributable to a
particular segment.
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Three Months Ended

March 31,  
Segment and Consolidated Operating Results (in thousands):  2009   2008  
Revenues and reimbursable expenses:       
Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                      $ 93,557  $ 51,088 
Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                       24,440   38,811 
Legal Consulting                                                                                                       22,868   25,223 
Corporate Consulting                                                                                                       22,144   24,272 
Total revenues                                                                                                    163,009   139,394 
Reimbursable expenses                                                                                                       14,240   11,613 
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses                                                                                                      $ 177,249  $ 151,007 
Operating income:         
Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                      $ 37,129  $ 22,132 
Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                       2,528   9,589 
Legal Consulting                                                                                                       3,241   6,587 
Corporate Consulting                                                                                                       8,175   9,377 
Total segment operating income                                                                                                    51,073   47,685 
Operating expenses not allocated to segments                                                                                                       29,231   27,056 
Total operating income                                                                                                      $ 21,842  $ 20,629 

         
Other Operating Data:          

    Number of full-time billable consultants (at period end) (1):         
    Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                        912   466 
    Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                        294   364 
    Legal Consulting                                                                                                        161   175 
    Corporate Consulting                                                                                                        167   229 

Total                                                                                                    1,534   1,234 
Average number of full-time billable consultants (for the period) (1):       

    Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                        919   458 
    Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                        301   370  
    Legal Consulting                                                                                                        162   178 
    Corporate Consulting                                                                                                        169   231 

Total                                                                                                    1,551   1,237 
Full-time billable consultant utilization rate (2):         

    Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                        78.1%  78.1%
    Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                        50.6%  51.8%
    Legal Consulting                                                                                                        53.7%  57.9%
    Corporate Consulting                                                                                                        73.8%  65.2%

Total                                                                                                    69.7%  65.0%
Full-time billable consultant average billing rate per hour (3):         

    Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                       $ 245  $ 269 
    Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                       $ 253  $ 268 
    Legal Consulting                                                                                                       $ 233  $ 234 
    Corporate Consulting                                                                                                       $ 362  $ 329 

Total                                                                                                   $ 259  $ 276 
Revenue per full-time billable consultant (in thousands):         

    Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                       $ 92  $ 103 
    Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                       $ 61  $ 66 
    Legal Consulting                                                                                                       $ 57  $ 64 
    Corporate Consulting                                                                                                       $ 124  $ 103 

Total                                                                                                   $ 86  $ 86 
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Three Months Ended

March 31,  
Other Operating Data:  2009   2008  

    Average number of full-time equivalents (for the period) (4):       
    Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                        97   38 
    Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                        104   239 
    Legal Consulting                                                                                                        503   468 
    Corporate Consulting                                                                                                        9   8 
Total                                                                                                   713   753 
   Revenue per full-time equivalents (in thousands):         
   Health and Education Consulting                                                                                                       $ 95  $ 104 
   Accounting and Financial Consulting                                                                                                       $ 59  $ 61 
   Legal Consulting                                                                                                       $ 27  $ 30 
   Corporate Consulting                                                                                                       $ 135  $ 70 
Total                                                                                                  $ 42  $ 44 

(1)  Consists of our full-time professionals who provide consulting services and generate revenues based on the number of hours worked.
(2)  Utilization rate for our full-time billable consultants is calculated by dividing the number of hours all our full-time billable consultants worked on client

assignments during a period by the total available working hours for all of these consultants during the same period, assuming a forty-hour work week,
less paid holidays and vacation days.

(3)  Average billing rate per hour for our full-time billable consultants is calculated by dividing revenues for a period by the number of hours worked on
client assignments during the same period.

(4)  Consists of consultants who work variable schedules as needed by our clients, as well as contract reviewers and other professionals who generate
revenues primarily based on number of hours worked and units produced, such as pages reviewed and data processed. Also includes full-time employees
who provide software support and maintenance services to our clients.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2009 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2008

Revenues
Revenues increased $23.6 million, or 16.9%, to $163.0 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $139.4 million for the first quarter of 2008. We acquired
Stockamp on July 8, 2008 and therefore, revenues for the first quarter of 2009 included revenues generated by Stockamp while revenues for the first quarter
of 2008 did not include any revenues from Stockamp.

Of the overall $23.6 million increase in revenues, $26.4 million was attributable to our full-time billable consultants, partially offset by a $2.8 million
decrease attributable to our full-time equivalents. The $26.4 million increase in full-time billable consultant revenues was attributable to an increase in the
number of consultants in our Health and Education Consulting segment reflecting our acquisition of Stockamp and internal growth, coupled with an increase
in the utilization rate of our consultants. These increases were partially offset by a decline in our average billing rate. The $2.8 million decrease in full-time
equivalent revenues resulted from lower demand for our variable, on-demand consultants in our Accounting and Financial Consulting segment.

Total Direct Costs
Our direct costs increased $15.7 million, or 18.8%, to $99.1 million in the first three months of 2009 from $83.4 million in the first three months of 2008.
Approximately $11.1 million of the increase was attributable to the increase in the average number of revenue-generating professionals and the promotion of
our employees during the year, including 17 to the managing director level effective January 1, 2009, and their related compensation and benefits costs.
Additionally, $3.4 million of the increase in direct costs was attributable to an increased usage of independent contractors, in particular within our Health and
Education Consulting segment. Share-based compensation expense associated with our revenue-generating professionals increased $0.2 million, or 5.0%, to
$4.2 million in the first quarter of 2009 from $4.0 million in the first quarter of 2008.

Total direct costs for the three months ended March 31, 2009 included $1.7 million of intangible assets amortization
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expense, primarily representing customer-related assets and software acquired in connection with the Stockamp acquisition.

Operating Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $4.3 million, or 14.5%, to $34.5 million in the first quarter of 2009 from $30.2 million in the first
quarter of 2008. Of the $4.3 million increase, $1.5 million was due to higher promotional and marketing spending, $1.1 million was attributable to an increase
in severance costs, $0.9 million was due to an increase in non-revenue generating professionals and their related compensation and benefits costs,
$0.8 million was attributable to increased facilities costs, and $0.6 million was due to an increase in charitable contributions. These increases were partially
offset by a decrease in company and team meeting costs. Share-based compensation expense associated with our non-revenue-generating professionals
remained steady at $2.4 million in both the first quarters of 2009 and 2008.

Depreciation expense increased $1.0 million, or 29.4%, to $4.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 2009 from $3.4 million in the three months
ended March 31, 2008 as computers, network equipment, furniture and fixtures, and leasehold improvements were added to support our increase in
employees. Non-direct intangible assets amortization expense decreased $0.3 million, or 17.6%, to $1.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009
from $1.7 million for the comparable period last year. Non-direct intangible assets amortization relates to customer relationships, non-competition agreements
and tradenames acquired in connection with our acquisitions.

Operating Income
Operating income increased $1.2 million, or 5.9%, to $21.8 million in the first quarter of 2009 from $20.6 million in the first quarter of 2008. Operating
margin, which is defined as operating income expressed as a percentage of revenues, decreased to 13.4% in the three months ended March 31, 2009 from
14.8% in the three months ended March 31, 2008. The decline in operating margin was attributable to higher total compensation cost as a percentage of
revenues, coupled with an increase in amortization expense as described above.

Other Expense
Other expense increased $1.1 million, or 50.6%, to $3.2 million in the first quarter of 2009 from $2.1 million in the first quarter of 2008. Of the $1.1 million
increase, $0.9 million was attributable to an increase in interest expense from higher levels of borrowings during the first quarter of 2009, partially offset by a
decrease in interest rates. During the three months ended March 31, 2009, the average daily outstanding balance under our credit facility was $285.7 million
and carried a weighted-average interest rate of 3.0% compared to $148.4 million and 4.8%, respectively, for the comparable period last year. The remaining
increase in other expense was primarily due to $0.2 million in net foreign currency transaction losses.

Net Income
Net income was $10.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 compared to $10.2 million for the same period last year. Diluted earnings per share
for the first quarter of 2009 was $0.51 compared to $0.56 for the first quarter of 2008. The decrease in earnings per share was attributable to the dilutive
impact of the shares issued in connection with prior business acquisitions.

Segment Results

Health and Education Consulting

Revenues
Health and Education Consulting segment revenues increased $42.5 million, or 83.1%, to $93.6 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $51.1 million for the
first quarter of 2008. Revenues for the first quarter of 2009 included revenues from our acquisition of Stockamp while revenues for the first quarter of 2008
did not include any revenues from Stockamp. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements, performance-based engagements and
software support and maintenance arrangements represented 27.1%, 54.3%, 16.2% and 2.4% of this segment’s revenues during the first three months of 2009,
respectively, compared to 55.0%, 44.5%, 0.5% and 0%, respectively, for the comparable period in 2008.

Of the overall $42.5 million increase in revenues, $37.3 million was attributable to our full-time billable consultants
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and $5.2 million was attributable to our full-time equivalents. The $37.3 million increase in full-time billable consultant revenues reflected an increase in the
number of consultants, partially offset by a decrease in the average billing rate per hour for this segment.

Operating Income
Health and Education Consulting segment operating income increased $15.0 million, or 67.8%, to $37.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2009
from $22.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2008. The Health and Education Consulting segment operating margin, defined as segment operating
income expressed as a percentage of segment revenues, decreased to 39.7% for the first quarter of 2009 from 43.3% in the same period last year. The decline
in this segment’s operating margin was attributable to higher total compensation cost and amortization expense as a percentage of revenues, as well as
severance charges totaling $0.7 million in the first quarter of 2009.

Accounting and Financial Consulting

Revenues
Accounting and Financial Consulting segment revenues decreased $14.4 million, or 37.0%, to $24.4 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $38.8 million
for the first quarter of 2008. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements and performance-based engagements represented 91.0%,
8.7% and 0.3% of this segment’s revenues during the first quarter of 2009, respectively. For the first quarter of 2008, most of this segment’s revenues were
from time-and-expense engagements.

Of the overall $14.4 million decrease in revenues, $6.0 million was attributable to our full-time billable consultants and $8.4 million was attributable to our
full-time equivalents. The $6.0 million decrease in full-time billable consultant revenues was primarily due to a decrease in demand for our consulting
services and a decrease in the average billing rate per hour for this segment. The $8.4 million decrease in full-time equivalent revenues resulted from a decline
in demand for our variable, on-demand consultants.

Operating Income
Accounting and Financial Consulting segment operating income decreased $7.1 million, or 73.6%, to $2.5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2009
from $9.6 million in the three months ended March 31, 2008. Segment operating margin decreased to 10.3% for the first quarter of 2009 from 24.7% in the
same period last year. The decrease in this segment’s operating margin was attributable to higher total compensation cost as a percentage of revenues, as well
as severance charges totaling $0.7 million in the first quarter of 2009.

Legal Consulting

Revenues
Legal Consulting segment revenues decreased $2.3 million, or 9.3%, to $22.9 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $25.2 million for the first quarter of
2008. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements and performance-based engagements represented 87.7%, 12.3% and 0% of this
segment’s revenues during the first three months of 2009, respectively, compared to 86.6%, 10.1% and 3.3%, respectively, for the comparable period in 2008.

The $2.3 million decrease in revenues was primarily attributable to our full-time billable consultant revenues, reflecting a decline in this segments utilization
rate.

Operating Income
Legal Consulting segment operating income decreased $3.4 million, or 50.8%, to $3.2 million in the three months ended March 31, 2009 from $6.6 million in
the three months ended March 31, 2008. Segment operating margin decreased to 14.2% for the first quarter of 2009 from 26.1% in the same period last year.
The decrease in this segment’s operating margin was attributable to higher total compensation cost as a percentage of revenues, reflecting the lower utilization
rate as described above, coupled with an increased level of investment in personnel, infrastructure, technology and other resources.
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Corporate Consulting

Revenues
Corporate Consulting segment revenues decreased $2.2 million, or 8.8%, to $22.1 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $24.3 million for the first quarter
of 2008. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements and performance-based engagements represented 47.0%, 53.0% and 0% of
this segment’s revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2009, respectively, compared to 49.2%, 45.5% and 5.3%, respectively, for the comparable
period in 2008.

The $2.2 million decrease in revenues was primarily attributable to our full-time billable consultant revenues, reflecting a decrease in the number of
consultants for this segment, partially offset by an increase in the utilization rate and average billing rate per hour for this segment.

Operating Income
Corporate Consulting segment operating income decreased $1.2 million, or 12.8%, to $8.2 million in the three months ended March 31, 2009 from
$9.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 2008. Segment operating margin decreased to 36.9% for the first quarter of 2009 from 38.6% in the same
period last year. The decrease in this segment’s operating margin reflects higher total compensation cost as a percentage of revenues.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents decreased $4.5 million, from $14.1 million at December 31, 2008 to $9.6 million at March 31, 2009. Our primary sources of
liquidity are cash flows from operations and debt capacity available under our credit facility.

Cash flows provided by operating activities was $2.1 million for the first quarter of 2009, compared to cash used of $28.5 million for the same period last
year. Our operating assets and liabilities consist primarily of receivables from billed and unbilled services, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and
accrued payroll and related benefits. The volume of services rendered and the related billings and timing of collections on those billings, as well as payments
of our accounts payable affect these account balances. The increase in cash provided by operations during the first quarter of 2009 was attributable to us
collecting cash on our receivables more quickly during the first quarter of 2009 as compared to the first quarter of 2008. This was largely due to our
integration of Stockamp, which has a practice of billing its clients and collecting cash in advance. The increase in cash provided by operations was also due to
lower bonuses paid during the first quarter of 2009 as compared to the same period last year.

Cash used in investing activities was $50.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and $16.6 million for the same period last year. The use of
cash in the first quarters of 2009 and 2008 primarily consisted of payments of additional purchase consideration earned by the selling shareholders of
businesses that we acquired, totaling $46.2 million in 2009 and $8.7 million in 2008. The use of cash in the first quarters of 2009 and 2008 also included
purchases of property and equipment.

At March 31, 2009, we had a credit agreement with various financial institutions under which we may borrow up to $460.0 million, with an accordion feature
allowing for an additional amount of up to $60.0 million to be borrowed upon approval from the lenders. The credit agreement consists of a $240.0 million
revolving credit facility (“Revolver”) and a $220.0 million term loan facility (“Term Loan”), which was drawn in a single advance of $220.0 million on
July 8, 2008 to fund, in part, our acquisition of Stockamp. The borrowing capacity under the credit agreement is reduced by any outstanding letters of credit
and payments under the Term Loan. At March 31, 2009, outstanding letters of credit totaled $5.7 million and are used as security deposits for our office
facilities. As of March 31, 2009, the borrowing capacity under the credit agreement was $116.3 million.

Fees and interest on borrowings vary based on our total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio as set forth in
the credit agreement.  Interest is based on a spread, ranging from 1.50% to 2.50%, over the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or a spread, ranging
from 0.50% to 1.50%, over the base rate (which is the greater of the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% or the Prime Rate), as selected by us. The Term Loan is
subject to amortization of principal in fifteen consecutive quarterly installments that began on September 30, 2008, with the first fourteen installments being
$5.5 million each. The fifteenth and final installment
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will be the amount of the remaining outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan and will be payable on February 23, 2012, but can be repaid earlier. All
outstanding borrowings under the Revolver will be due upon expiration of the credit agreement on February 23, 2012.

Under the credit agreement, dividends are restricted to an amount up to $10.0 million per fiscal year plus 50% of consolidated net income (adjusted for non-
cash share-based compensation expense) for such fiscal year, plus 50% of net cash proceeds during such fiscal year with respect to any issuance of capital
securities. In addition, certain acquisitions and similar transactions need to be approved by the lenders. The credit agreement includes quarterly financial
covenants that require us to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.50 to 1.00 and a maximum leverage ratio of 3.25 to 1.00, as those ratios are
defined in the credit agreement. At March 31, 2009, we were in compliance with these financial covenants with a fixed charge coverage ratio of 3.60 to 1.00
and a leverage ratio of 1.98 to 1.00.

During the first quarter of 2009, we made borrowings to pay bonuses and additional purchase consideration earned by selling shareholders of businesses that
we acquired and that were accrued for at December 31, 2008. We also made borrowings to fund our daily operations. During the three months ended
March 31, 2009, the average daily outstanding balance under our credit facility was $285.7 million. Borrowings outstanding under this credit facility at
March 31, 2009 totaled $321.5 million and carried a weighted-average interest rate of 3.0%. Borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2008 totaled
$280.0 million and carried a weighted-average interest rate of 3.1%. At both March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we were in compliance with our debt
covenants.

On March 20, 2009, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement.  See “Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” below for
further details.

Future Needs
Our primary financing need has been to fund our growth.  Our growth strategy is to expand our service offerings, which will require investment in new hires,
acquisitions of complementary businesses, expansion into other geographic areas, and capital expenditures for information technology, office space, furniture
and fixtures, as well as leasehold improvements. In connection with our past business acquisitions, we are required under earn-out provisions to pay
additional purchase consideration to the sellers if specific financial performance targets are met. We also have cash needs to service our credit facility and
repay our term loan. Further, we have other cash commitments relating to other future contractual obligations. Because we expect that our future annual
growth rate in revenues and related percentage increases in working capital balances will moderate, we believe our internally generated liquidity, together
with the borrowing capacity available under our revolving credit facility and access to external capital resources, will be adequate to fund our long-term
growth and capital needs arising from earn-out provisions, cash commitments and debt service obligations. Our ability to secure short-term and long-term
financing in the future will depend on several factors, including our future profitability, the quality of our accounts receivable and unbilled services, our
relative levels of debt and equity, and the overall condition of the credit markets, which declined significantly during 2008 and may continue to decline in
2009.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

For a summary of our commitments to make future payments under contractual obligations, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations – Contractual Obligations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.  There have been
no significant changes in our contractual obligations since December 31, 2008 except as described below:

·  During the first quarter of 2009, we paid additional purchase consideration to selling shareholders of businesses that we acquired as financial
performance targets were met in 2008. The aggregate purchase consideration paid totaled $46.2 million.

·  During the first quarter of 2009, our long-term borrowings increased from $280.0 million as of December 31, 2008 to $321.5 million as of March 31,
2009.
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OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Except for operating leases, we have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value measurements in financial statements,
but standardizes its definition and guidance in GAAP. We adopted SFAS No. 157 effective beginning on January 1, 2008 for financial assets and financial
liabilities, which did not have any impact on our financial statements. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 157-2, “Effective
Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” which delayed by one year the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities,
except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). We adopted SFAS No. 157
effective beginning on January 1, 2009 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, which did not have any impact on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations,” (“SFAS No. 141R”). SFAS No. 141R was issued to improve
the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of information in financial statements about a business combination and its effects. This
statement retains the purchase method of accounting for business combinations, but requires a number of changes. The changes that may have the most
significant impact on us include: contingent consideration, such as earn-outs, will be recognized at its fair value on the acquisition date and, for certain
arrangements, changes in fair value will be recognized in earnings until settled; acquisition-related transaction and restructuring costs will be expensed as
incurred; previously-issued financial information will be revised for subsequent adjustments made to finalize the purchase price accounting; reversals of
valuation allowances related to acquired deferred tax assets and changes to acquired income tax uncertainties will be recognized in earnings, except in certain
situations. In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP FAS 141(R)-1, “Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That
Arise from Contingences,” which requires an acquirer to recognize at fair value, an asset acquired or a liability assumed in a business combination that arises
from a contingency provided the asset or liability’s fair value can be determined on the date of acquisition. We adopted SFAS No. 141R on a prospective basis
effective beginning on January 1, 2009. For business combinations completed on or subsequent to the adoption date, the application of this statement may
have a significant impact on our financial statements, the magnitude of which will depend on the specific terms and conditions of the transactions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements – an amendment of ARB No. 51.” SFAS
No. 160 was issued to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency of financial information provided in financial statements by establishing
accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. We adopted SFAS No. 160
effective beginning on January 1, 2009. The adoption of this statement did not have any impact on our financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities – an amendment of FASB Statement No.
133.” SFAS No. 161 was issued to improve transparency of financial information provided in financial statements by requiring expanded disclosures about an
entity’s derivative and hedging activities.  This statement requires entities to provide expanded disclosures about: how and why an entity uses derivative
instruments; how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133; and how derivative instruments and related hedged
items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. We adopted SFAS No. 161 effective beginning on January 1, 2009. The
adoption of this statement did not have any impact on our financial statements as it contains only disclosure requirements.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in interest rates, changes in the price of our common stock and changes in the market value of our
investments.

Our exposure to changes in interest rates is limited to borrowings under our bank credit facility, which has variable interest rates tied to the LIBOR, Federal
Funds Rate or Prime Rate. At March 31, 2009, we had borrowings outstanding totaling $321.5 million that carried a weighted-average interest rate of 3.0%. A
hypothetical one percent change in this interest rate would have a $3.2 million effect on our pre-tax income.

On March 20, 2009, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $100.0 million effective on March 31, 2009 and ending on
February 23, 2012. We entered into this interest rate swap to hedge against the risk of changes in future cash flows related to changes in interest rate on
$100.0 million of the total variable-rate borrowings outstanding under our credit facility. Under the terms of the agreement, we will receive from the
counterparty interest on the $100.0 million notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we will pay to the counterparty a fixed rate of 1.715%. This
swap will effectively fix our LIBOR-based rate for $100.0 million of our debt beginning on March 31, 2009 and through February 23, 2012. Including the
impact of the swap, the effective interest rate on $100.0 million of our debt was 4.2% as of March 31, 2009. We expect this hedge to be highly effective.

We have not entered into any other interest rate swaps, caps or collars or other hedging instruments as of March 31, 2009.

In connection with our acquisition of Stockamp and an amendment to the Wellspring Stock Purchase Agreement, we issued a total of 1,541,036 shares of our
common stock to the sellers of Stockamp and Wellspring. Additionally, we provided them with a protection against a decline in the value of the shares issued
until the restrictions on the shares have lapsed.  As such, we are subject to market risk relating to our common stock. Of the 1,541,036 shares issued, the
restrictions on 1,210,814 shares lapsed on January 9, 2009 and we were not required to make further payments. The restrictions on the remaining 330,222
shares that were placed in escrow will lapse on July 9, 2009.  Upon the lapse of the restrictions, if the average daily closing price of our common stock for the
ten consecutive trading days prior to the date that the restrictions lapse is $47.81 or below, then for every $1.00 that our stock price is below $47.81, we would
be required to pay the sellers approximately $0.3 million, in the form of cash, stock, or any combination of cash and stock. Based on the average daily closing
price of our common stock for the ten consecutive trading days prior to and including March 31, 2009, or $42.07, we would be obligated to make a protection
payment to the sellers of approximately $1.8 million.  If the average price of our common stock decreased further by 10% to $37.86, the protection payment
would increase to $3.1 million.

From time to time, we invest excess cash in marketable securities. These investments principally consist of overnight sweep accounts. Due to the short
maturity of our investments, we have concluded that we do not have material market risk exposure.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of March 31, 2009. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of
March 31, 2009, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act and such information is accumulated and communicated to
management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the “Exchange Act”)
that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2009 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II ¾ OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On July 3, 2007, The Official Committee (the “Committee”) of Unsecured Creditors of Saint Vincents Catholic Medical Centers of New York d/b/a Saint
Vincent Catholic Medical Centers (“St. Vincents”), et al. filed suit against Huron Consulting Group Inc., certain of our subsidiaries, including Speltz & Weis
LLC, and two of our former managing directors, David E. Speltz (“Speltz”) and Timothy C. Weis (“Weis”), in the Supreme Court of the State of New York,
County of New York. On November 26, 2007, Gray & Associates, LLC (“Gray”), in its capacity as trustee on behalf of the SVCMC Litigation Trust, was
substituted as plaintiff in the place of the Committee and on February 19, 2008, Gray filed an amended complaint in the action. Beginning in 2004, St.
Vincents retained Speltz & Weis LLC to provide management services to St. Vincents, and its two principals, Speltz and Weis, were made the interim chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, respectively, of St. Vincents. In May of 2005, we acquired Speltz & Weis LLC. On July 5, 2005, St. Vincents
filed for bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (“Bankruptcy Court”). On December 14, 2005, the
Bankruptcy Court approved the retention of Speltz & Weis LLC and us in various capacities, including interim management, revenue cycle management and
strategic sourcing services. The amended complaint filed by Gray alleges, among other things, breach of fiduciary duties, breach of the New York Not-For-
Profit Corporation Law, malpractice, breach of contract, tortious interference with contract, aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duties, certain fraudulent
transfers and fraudulent conveyances, breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, fraud, aiding and abetting fraud, negligent misrepresentation,
and civil conspiracy, and seeks at least $200 million in damages, disgorgement of fees, return of funds or other property transferred to Speltz & Weis LLC,
attorneys’ fees, and unspecified punitive and other damages. We believe that the claims are without merit and intend to vigorously defend ourselves in this
matter. The suit is in the pre-trial stage and no trial date has been set.

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business.  As of the filing date of this quarterly report
on Form 10-Q, we are not a party to or threatened with any other litigation or legal proceeding that, in the opinion of management, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations. However, due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in legal proceedings, actual results could
differ from current expected results.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

See “Risk Factors” in our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete description of the material risks we face. There have been no material changes to
our business risk factors since December 31, 2008.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Our 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan permits the netting of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock awards to satisfy individual tax withholding
requirements. During the quarter ended March 31, 2009, we re-acquired 33,318 shares of common stock with a weighted-average fair market value of $46.46
as a result of such tax withholdings as presented in the table below.

Period  

Total Number
of Shares

Redeemed to
Satisfy

Employee Tax
Withholding

Requirements   

Weighted-
Average

Fair Market
Value Per

Share
Redeemed   

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased
as Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans or

Programs   

Maximum
Number of
Shares that
May Yet Be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or

Programs  
January 2009                                  8,406   $ 57.27    N/A    N/A  
February 2009                                  5,149   $ 48.72    N/A    N/A  
March 2009                                  19,763   $        41.27    N/A    N/A  
Total                                  33,318   $ 46.46    N/A    N/A  

N/A – Not applicable.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.  

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.  

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

(a) The following exhibits are filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Exhibit
Number

 
Exhibit

3.1  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Huron Consulting Group Inc.
   

31.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

   
31.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
   

32.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

   
32.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

   Huron Consulting Group Inc.
   (Registrant)
    
    
Date: April 30, 2009  /s/ Gary L. Burge
   Gary L. Burge
   Vice President,
   Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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BYLAWS
 

OF
 

HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
 

(hereinafter called the "Corporation")
 
 

ARTICLE I
 

OFFICES
 

Section 1. Registered Office
 

  The registered office of the Corporation shall be in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, State of Delaware.
 

Section 2. Other Offices
 

  The Corporation may also have offices at such other places, both within and without the State of Delaware, as the Board of Directors may
from time to time determine.
 
 

ARTICLE II
 

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
 

Section 1. Place of Meetings
 

  Meetings of the stockholders for the election of directors or for any other purpose shall be held at such time and place, either within or
without the State of Delaware, as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.
 

Section 2. Annual Meetings
 

  The Annual Meeting of Stockholders for the election of directors shall be held on such date and at such time as shall be designated from
time to time by the Board of Directors.  Subject to Section 4 of this Article II, any other proper business may be transacted at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.
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Section 3. Special Meetings
 

  Unless otherwise required by law or by the certificate of incorporation of the Corporation, as amended and restated from time to time (the
"Certificate of Incorporation"), Special Meetings of Stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, may be called by either (i) the Chairman of the Board of
Directors, if there be one, (ii) the President or (iii) the Board of Directors.  Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting.  No
business shall be conducted at a Special Meeting of Stockholders except for such business as shall have been brought before the meeting pursuant to the
Corporation's notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto).  The ability of the stockholders to call a Special Meeting of Stockholders is hereby specifically
denied.
 

Section 4. Nature of Business at Annual Meetings of Stockholders
 

  No business may be transacted at an Annual Meeting of Stockholders, other than business that is either (a) specified in the notice of
meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof), (b) otherwise properly
brought before the Annual Meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof), or (c) otherwise properly
brought before the Annual Meeting by any stockholder of the Corporation (i) who is a stockholder of record on the date of the giving of the notice provided
for in this Section 4 and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at such Annual Meeting and (ii) who
complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 4.
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In addition to any other applicable requirements, for business to be properly brought before an Annual Meeting by a stockholder, such
stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the Secretary of the Corporation.
 

To be timely, a stockholder's notice to the Secretary must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation not less than ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding Annual
Meeting of Stockholders; provided, however, that in the event that the Annual Meeting is called for a date that is not within thirty (30) days before or after
such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder in order to be timely must be so received not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following
the day on which such notice of the date of the Annual Meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the Annual Meeting was made, whichever first
occurs.
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To be in proper written form, a stockholder's notice to the Secretary must set forth as to each matter such stockholder proposes to bring
before the Annual Meeting (i) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the Annual Meeting and the reasons for conducting such
business at the Annual Meeting, (ii) the name and record address of such stockholder, (iii) the class or series and number of shares of capital stock of the
Corporation which are owned beneficially or of record by such stockholder, and any Stockholder Associated Person, (iv) the date such shares were acquired
and the investment intent of such acquisition, (v) a description of all arrangements or understandings between such stockholder and any other person or
persons (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder and any material interest of such stockholder in such
business, (vi) a representation that such stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and that such stockholder
intends to appear in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting to bring such business before the meeting, (vii) the name and address of such stockholder and
any Stockholder Associated Person, or a nominee holder for a stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person who owns shares of capital stock of the
Corporation beneficially, but not of record, as they appear on the Corporation's stock ledger and current name and address, if different, (viii) to the extent
known to the stockholder giving notice, the name and address of any other stockholder supporting the proposal of other business on the date of such
stockholder's notice, and (ix) as to the stockholder giving notice and any Stockholder Associated Person, whether and to the extent which any hedging or any
other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on behalf of, or any other agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any short
position or any borrowing or lending of shares) has been made, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss or to manage risk or benefit of share price
changes for, or to increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or any such Stockholder Associated Person with respect to any shares of capital
stock of the Corporation. A "Stockholder Associated Person" of any stockholder is (i) any person controlling, directly or indirectly, or acting in concert with,
such stockholder, (ii) any beneficial owner of shares of capital stock of the Corporation owned of record or beneficially by such stockholder and (iii) any
person controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Stockholder Associated Person.
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In addition, notwithstanding anything in this Section 4 to the contrary, a stockholder intending to nominate one or more persons for election
as a director at an Annual or Special Meeting of Stockholders must comply with Section 5 of Article II of these Bylaws for such nominations to be properly
brought before such meeting.
 

No business shall be conducted at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders except business brought before the Annual Meeting in accordance
with the procedures set forth in this Section 4; provided, however, that, once business has been properly brought before the Annual Meeting in accordance
with such procedures, nothing in this Section 4 shall be deemed to preclude discussion by any stockholder of any such business.  If the chairman of an Annual
Meeting determines that business was not properly brought before the Annual Meeting in accordance with the foregoing procedures, the chairman shall
declare to the meeting that the business was not properly brought before the meeting and such business shall not be transacted.
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Section 5. Nomination of Directors
 

  Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the following procedures shall be eligible for election as directors of the Corporation,
except as may be otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation with respect to the right of holders of preferred stock of the Corporation to nominate
and elect a specified number of directors in certain circumstances.  Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made at any Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, or at any Special Meeting of Stockholders called for the purpose of electing directors, (a) by or at the direction of the Board of
Directors (or any duly authorized committee thereof) or (b) by any stockholder of the Corporation (i) who is a stockholder of record on the date of the giving
of the notice provided for in this Section 5 and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting and
(ii) who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 5.
 

In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made by a stockholder, such stockholder must have given timely
notice thereof in proper written form to the Secretary of the Corporation.
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To be timely, a stockholder's notice to the Secretary must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation (a) in the case of an Annual Meeting, not less than ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the anniversary date of
the immediately preceding Annual Meeting of Stockholders; provided, however, that in the event that the Annual Meeting is called for a date that is not
within thirty (30) days before or after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder in order to be timely must be so received not later than the close of
business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such notice of the date of the Annual Meeting was mailed or such public disclosure of the date of
the Annual Meeting was made, whichever first occurs; and (b) in the case of a Special Meeting of Stockholders called for the purpose of electing directors,
not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which notice of the date of the Special Meeting was mailed or public
disclosure of the date of the Special Meeting was made, whichever first occurs.
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To be in proper written form, a stockholder's notice to the Secretary must set forth (a) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to
nominate for election as a director (i) the name, age, business address and residence address of the person, (ii) the principal occupation or employment of the
person, (iii) the class or series and number of shares of capital stock of the Corporation which are owned beneficially or of record by the person and any
Stockholder Associated Person, (iv) the date such shares were acquired and the investment intent of such acquisition, (v) any other information relating to the
person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for election
of directors pursuant to Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder; and (b) as to the stockholder giving the notice (i) the name and record address of such stockholder, (ii) the class or series and number of shares of
capital stock of the Corporation which are owned beneficially or of record by such stockholder and any Stockholder Associated Person, (iii) the date such
shares were acquired and the investment intent of such acquisition, (iv) a description of all arrangements or understandings between such stockholder and
each proposed nominee and any other person or persons (including their names) pursuant to which the nomination(s) are to be made by such stockholder, (v)
a representation that such stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and that such stockholder intends to
appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the persons named in its notice, (vi) any other information relating to such stockholder that would be
required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant
to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder , (vii) the name and address of such stockholder and any Stockholder
Associated Person, or a nominee holder for a stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person who owns shares of capital stock of the Corporation
beneficially, but not of record, as they appear on the Corporation's stock ledger and current name and address, if different, (viii) to the extent known to the
stockholder giving notice, the name and address of any other stockholder supporting the nominee for election or reelection as a director on the date of such
stockholder's notice, and (ix) as to the stockholder giving notice and any Stockholder Associated Person, whether and to the extent which any hedging or any
other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on behalf of, or any other agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any short
position or any borrowing or lending of shares) has been made, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss or to manage risk or benefit of share price
changes for, or to increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or any such Stockholder Associated Person with respect to any shares of capital
stock of the Corporation..  Such notice must be accompanied by a written consent of each proposed nominee to being named as a nominee and to serve as a
director if elected.
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No person shall be eligible for election as a director of the Corporation unless nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this
Section 5.  If the chairman of the meeting determines that a nomination was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedures, the chairman shall declare
to the meeting that the nomination was defective and such defective nomination shall be disregarded.
 

Section 6. Notice
 

  Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a written notice of the meeting shall be given which shall
state the place, date and hour of the meeting, and, in the case of a Special Meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called.  Unless otherwise
required by law, written notice of any meeting shall be given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each
stockholder entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting.
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Section 7. Adjournments
 

  Any meeting of the stockholders may be adjourned from time to time to reconvene at the same or some other place, and notice need not be
given of any such adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken.  At the adjourned meeting,
the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting.  If the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, or
if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting in accordance with the requirements of Section
6 of this Article II shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting.
 

Section 8. Quorum
 

  Unless otherwise required by applicable law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of not less than one-third of the Corporation's
capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the
stockholders for the transaction of business.  A quorum, once established, shall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a
quorum.  If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in
person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, in the manner provided in Section 7 of this Article II, until a
quorum shall be present or represented.
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Section 9. Voting
 

  Unless otherwise required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any question brought before any meeting of the
stockholders, other than the election of directors, shall be decided by the vote of the holders of a majority of the total number of votes of the Corporation's
capital stock represented and entitled to vote thereat, voting as a single class.  Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, and subject to
Section 12 of this Article II, each stockholder represented at a meeting of the stockholders shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote for each share of the capital
stock entitled to vote thereat held by such stockholder.  Such votes may be cast in person or by proxy as provided in Section 10 of this Article II.  The Board
of Directors, in its discretion, or the officer of the Corporation presiding at a meeting of the stockholders, in such officer's discretion, may require that any
votes cast at such meeting shall be cast by written ballot.
 

Section 10. Proxies
 

  Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of the stockholders may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder as
proxy, but no such proxy shall be voted upon after three years from its date, unless such proxy provides for a longer period.  Without limiting the manner in
which a stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy, the following shall constitute a valid means by which a
stockholder may grant such authority:
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(i) A stockholder may execute a writing authorizing another person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy.  Execution
may be accomplished by the stockholder or such stockholder's authorized officer, director, employee or agent signing such writing or causing such
person's signature to be affixed to such writing by any reasonable means, including, but not limited to, by facsimile signature.

 
(ii) A stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy by transmitting or authorizing

the transmission of a telegram or cablegram to the person who will be the holder of the proxy or to a proxy solicitation firm, proxy support service
organization or like agent duly authorized by the person who will be the holder of the proxy to receive such telegram or cablegram, provided that any
such telegram or cablegram must either set forth or be submitted with information from which it can be determined that the telegram or cablegram
was authorized by the stockholder.  If it is determined that such telegrams or cablegrams are valid, the inspectors or, if there are no inspectors, such
other persons making that determination shall specify the information on which they relied.
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Any copy, facsimile telecommunication or other reliable reproduction of the writing, telegram or cablegram authorizing another person or persons to act as
proxy for a stockholder may be substituted or used in lieu of the original writing, telegram or cablegram for any and all purposes for which the original
writing, telegram or cablegram could be used; provided, however, that such copy, facsimile telecommunication or other reproduction shall be a complete
reproduction of the entire original writing, telegram or cablegram.
 

Section 11. List of Stockholders Entitled to Vote
 

  The officer of the Corporation who has charge of the stock ledger of the Corporation shall prepare and make, at least ten (10) days before
every meeting of the stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address
of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder.  Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for
any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting (i) either at a place within the
city where the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not so specified, at the place where the meeting is to be
held or (ii) during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the Corporation.  The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place
of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.
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Section 12. Record Date
 

 In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of the stockholders or any
adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record
date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and which record date shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such
meeting.  If no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the
stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the
day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held.  A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the
stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned
meeting.
 

Section 13. Stock Ledger
 

  The stock ledger of the Corporation shall be the only evidence as to who are the stockholders entitled to examine the stock ledger, the list
required by Section 11 of this Article II or the books of the Corporation, or to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of the stockholders.
 

Section 14. Conduct of Meetings
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  The Board of Directors of the Corporation may adopt by resolution such rules and regulations for the conduct of any meeting of the
stockholders as it shall deem appropriate.  Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules and regulations as adopted by the Board of Directors, the chairman
of any meeting of the stockholders shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the
judgment of such chairman, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting.  Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the Board of
Directors or prescribed by the chairman of the meeting, may include, without limitation, the following:  (i) the establishment of an agenda or order of business
for the meeting; (ii) the determination of when the polls shall open and close for any given matter to be voted on at the meeting; (iii) rules and procedures for
maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (iv) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to stockholders of record of
the Corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as the chairman of the meeting shall determine; (v) restrictions on entry to
the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof; and (vi) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants.
 

Section 15. Inspectors of Election
 

  In advance of any meeting of the stockholders, the Board of Directors, by resolution, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be
one, or the President shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof.  One or more other persons may be
designated as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act.  If no inspector or alternate is able to act at a meeting of the stockholders, the
chairman of the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting.  Unless otherwise required by applicable law, inspectors may be officers,
employees or agents of the Corporation.  Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of the duties of inspector, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to
execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of such inspector's ability.  The inspector shall have the duties prescribed by
law and shall take charge of the polls and, when the vote is completed, shall make a certificate of the result of the vote taken and of such other facts as may be
required by applicable law.
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ARTICLE III

 
DIRECTORS

 
Section 1. Number and Election of Directors

 
  The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than five nor more than fifteen members, the exact number of which shall be fixed from

time to time by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors shall be divided into three classes, designated Class I, Class II and Class III.   The initial
division of the Board of Directors into classes shall be made by the decision of the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors.  The term of
the initial Class I directors shall terminate on the date of the 2005 Annual Meeting; the term of the initial Class II directors shall terminate on the date of the
2006 Annual Meeting; and the term of the initial Class III directors shall terminate on the date of the 2007 Annual Meeting or, in each case, upon such
director's earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office.  At each succeeding Annual Meeting of Stockholders beginning in
2005, successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that Annual Meeting shall be elected for a three-year term and until their successors are duly
elected and qualified, subject, however, to prior death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office.  If the number of directors is changed,
any increase or decrease shall be apportioned among the classes, and any additional director of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an increase in
such class or from the removal from office, death, disability, resignation or disqualification of a director or other cause shall hold office for a term that shall
coincide with the remaining term of that class, but in no case will a decrease in the number of directors have the effect of removing or shortening the term of
any incumbent director.  Except as provided in Section 2 of this Article III, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at each Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and each director so elected shall hold office until such director's term expires and until such director's successor is duly elected and qualified, or
until such director's earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal.  Directors need not be stockholders.
 

- 16 - -



Section 2. Vacancies
 

  Any vacancy on the Board of Directors that results from an increase in the number of directors may be filled by a majority of the Board of
Directors then in office, provided that a quorum is present, and any other vacancy occurring on the Board of Directors may be filled by a majority of the
Board of Directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director.  Any director of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from
an increase in the number of directors of such class shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of that class.  Any director elected
to fill a vacancy not resulting from an increase in the number of directors shall have the same remaining term as that of his or her predecessor.
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Section 3. Duties and Powers
 

  The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors which may exercise all
such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws required
to be exercised or done by the stockholders.
 

Section 4. Meetings
 

  The Board of Directors may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or without the State of Delaware.  Regular meetings of
the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and at such place as may from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.  Special
meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one, the President, or a majority of the members of
the Board of Directors then in office.  Notice thereof stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to each director either by mail not less than
forty-eight (48) hours before the date of the meeting, by telephone or telegram on twenty-four (24) hours' notice, or on such shorter notice as the person or
persons calling such meeting may deem necessary or appropriate in the circumstances.
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Section 5. Organization
 

  At each meeting of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or, in his or her absence, a director chosen by a
majority of the directors present, shall act as chairman.  The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary at each meeting of the Board of Directors.  In
case the Secretary shall be absent from any meeting of the Board of Directors, an Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties of secretary at such meeting;
and in the absence from any such meeting of the Secretary and all the Assistant Secretaries, the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person to act as
secretary of the meeting.
 

Section 6. Resignations and Removals of Directors
 

  Any director of the Corporation may resign at any time, by giving notice in writing to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the
President or the Secretary of the Corporation.  Such resignation shall take effect at the time therein specified or, if no time is specified, immediately; and,
unless otherwise specified in such notice, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.  Except as otherwise required by
applicable law and subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of shares of preferred stock then outstanding, any director or the entire Board of Directors may
be removed from office at any time, but only for cause, and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a two-thirds in voting power of the issued
and outstanding capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote in the election of directors.
 

Section 7. Quorum
 

  Except as otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, at all meetings of the Board of Directors, a majority of the entire
Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a
quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors.  If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, the directors present thereat may
adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting of the time and place of the adjourned meeting, until a quorum
shall be present.
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Section 8. Actions of the Board by Written Consent
 

  Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting
of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all the members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case
may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee.
 

Section 9. Meetings by Means of Conference Telephone
 

  Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, or
any committee thereof, may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or such committee by means of a conference telephone or other
communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this
Section 9 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.
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Section 10. Committees
 

  The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the
Corporation.  The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or
disqualified member at any meeting of any such committee.  In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, and in the absence of a
designation by the Board of Directors of an alternate member to replace the absent or disqualified member, the member or members thereof present at any
meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the
Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any absent or disqualified member.  Any committee, to the extent permitted by law and provided in the
resolution establishing such committee, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business
and affairs of the Corporation, and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it.  Each committee shall keep
regular minutes and report to the Board of Directors when required.
 

Section 11. Compensation
 

  The directors may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors and may be paid a fixed sum for
attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or a stated salary for service as director, payable in cash or securities.  No such payment shall preclude
any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.  Members of special or standing committees may be
allowed like compensation for service as committee members.
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Section 12. Interested Directors
 

  No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the Corporation and any other
corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest,
shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board of Directors or
committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because any such director's or officer's vote is counted for such purpose if: (i) the
material facts as to the director's or officer's relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors
or the committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of the
disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or (ii) the material facts as to the director's or officer's relationship or
interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is
specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or (iii) the contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized,
approved or ratified by the Board of Directors, a committee thereof or the stockholders.  Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the
presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.
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ARTICLE IV

 
OFFICERS

 
Section 1. General

 
  The officers of the Corporation shall be chosen by the Board of Directors and shall be a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer.  The Board

of Directors, in its discretion, also may choose a Chairman of the Board of Directors (who must be a director), a Chief Operating Officer, a Chief Financial
Officer and one or more Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries, Assistant Treasurers and other officers.  Any number of offices may be held by the same
person, unless otherwise prohibited by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.  The officers of the Corporation need not be stockholders of the
Corporation nor, except in the case of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, need such officers be directors of the Corporation.
 

Section 2. Election
 

  The Board of Directors  shall elect annually at such time as the Board of Directors in its sole discretion determines the officers of the
Corporation who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by
the Board of Directors; and each officer of the Corporation shall hold office until such officer's successor is elected and qualified, or until such officer's earlier
death, resignation or removal.  Any officer elected by the Board of Directors may be removed at any time by the Board of Directors.  Any vacancy occurring
in any office of the Corporation shall be filled by the Board of Directors.  The salaries of all officers of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Board of
Directors.
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Section 3. Voting Securities Owned by the Corporation
 

  Powers of attorney, proxies, waivers of notice of meeting, consents and other instruments relating to securities owned by the Corporation
may be executed in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation by the President, the Chief Operating Officer or the Chief Financial Officer or any Vice
President or any other officer authorized to do so by the Board of Directors and any such officer may, in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, take all
such action as any such officer may deem advisable to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of security holders of any corporation in which the
Corporation may own securities and at any such meeting shall possess and may exercise any and all rights and power incident to the ownership of such
securities and which, as the owner thereof, the Corporation might have exercised and possessed if present.  The Board of Directors may, by resolution, from
time to time confer like powers upon any other person or persons.
 

Section 4. Chairman of the Board of Directors
 

  The Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one, shall act as chairman at all meetings of the stockholders and of the Board of
Directors.  The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, unless the Board of Directors designates the
President as the Chief Executive Officer, and, except where by law the signature of the President is required, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall
possess the same power as the President to sign all contracts, certificates and other instruments of the Corporation which may be authorized by the Board of
Directors.  During the absence or disability of the President, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall exercise all the powers and discharge all the duties
of the President.  The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall also perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as may from time to time
be assigned by these Bylaws or by the Board of Directors.
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Section 5. President
 

  The President shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors and the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one, have
general supervision of the business of the Corporation and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect.  The
President shall execute all bonds, mortgages, contracts and other instruments of the Corporation requiring a seal, under the seal of the Corporation, except
where required or permitted by law to be otherwise signed and executed and except that the other officers of the Corporation may sign and execute documents
when so authorized by these Bylaws, the Board of Directors or the President.  In the absence or disability of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or if
there be none, the President shall act as chairman at all meetings of the stockholders and, provided the President is also a director, the Board of Directors.  If
there be no Chairman of the Board of Directors, or if the Board of Directors shall otherwise designate, the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of
the Corporation.  The President shall also perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as may from time to time be assigned to such officer
by these Bylaws or by the Board of Directors.
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Section 6. Chief Operating Officer
 

  The Chief Operating Officer, if there be one, shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors,
if there be one, and the President, be responsible for the day-to-day management of the Corporation's operations.  The Chief Operating Officer shall also
perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as may from time to time be assigned to such officer by these Bylaws or by the Board of
Directors.   At the request of the President or in the President's absence or in the event of the President's inability or refusal to act (and if there be no Chairman
of the Board of Directors), the Chief Operating Officer shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be
subject to all the restrictions upon the President.
 

Section 7. Chief Financial Officer
 

  The Chief Financial Officer, if there be one, shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors,
if there be one, the President and the Chief Operating Officer, if there be one, have the responsibility for the financial affairs of the Corporation and shall
exercise supervisory responsibility for the performance of the duties of the Treasurer and the controller, if any, of the Corporation.  The Chief Financial
Officer shall also perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as may from time to time be assigned to such officer by these Bylaws or by
the Board of Directors.
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Section 8. Vice Presidents
 

  At the request of the President or in the President's absence or in the event of the President's inability or refusal to act (and if there be no
Chairman of the Board of Directors and no Chief Operating Officer), the Vice President, or the Vice Presidents if there are more than one (in the order
designated by the Board of Directors), shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the
restrictions upon the President.  Each Vice President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors from time to time
may prescribe.  If there be no Chairman of the Board of Directors, no Chief Operating Officer and no Vice President, the Board of Directors shall designate
the officer of the Corporation who, in the absence of the President or in the event of the inability or refusal of the President to act, shall perform the duties of
the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President.
 

Section 9. Secretary
 

  The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings of the stockholders and record all the proceedings
thereat in a book or books to be kept for that purpose; the Secretary shall also perform like duties for committees of the Board of Directors when
required.  The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall
perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one, the President or the Chief
Operating Officer, if there be one.  If the Secretary shall be unable or shall refuse to cause to be given notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special
meetings of the Board of Directors, and if there be no Assistant Secretary, then either the Board of Directors or the President may choose another officer to
cause such notice to be given.  The Secretary shall have custody of the seal of the Corporation and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, if there be one,
shall have authority to affix the same to any instrument requiring it and when so affixed, it may be attested by the signature of the Secretary or by the
signature of any such Assistant Secretary.  The Board of Directors may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the Corporation and to
attest to the affixing by such officer's signature.  The Secretary shall see that all books, reports, statements, certificates and other documents and records
required by law to be kept or filed are properly kept or filed, as the case may be.
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Section 10. Treasurer
 

  The Treasurer shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and
disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation
in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors.  The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the
Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President, the Chief Operating Officer, if there be one, the Chief
Financial Officer, if there be one, and the Board of Directors, at its regular meetings, or when the Board of Directors so requires, an account of all transactions
as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation.  If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond in such
sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors for the faithful performance of the duties of the office of the Treasurer
and for the restoration to the Corporation, in case of the Treasurer's death, resignation, retirement or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers,
money and other property of whatever kind in the Treasurer's possession or under the Treasurer's control belonging to the Corporation.
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Section 11. Assistant Secretaries
 

  Assistant Secretaries, if there be any, shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be assigned to them by the
Board of Directors, the President, the Chief Operating Officer, if there be one, any Vice President, if there be one, or the Secretary, and in the absence of the
Secretary or in the event of the Secretary's inability or refusal to act, shall perform the duties of the Secretary, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of
and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Secretary.
 

Section 12. Assistant Treasurers
 

  Assistant Treasurers, if there be any, shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be assigned to them by the
Board of Directors, the President, the Chief Operating Officer, if there be one, the Chief Financial Officer, if there be one, any Vice President, if there be one,
or the Treasurer, and in the absence of the Treasurer or in the event of the Treasurer's inability or refusal to act, shall perform the duties of the Treasurer, and
when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Treasurer.  If required by the Board of Directors, an Assistant
Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors for the faithful
performance of the duties of the office of Assistant Treasurer and for the restoration to the Corporation, in case of the Assistant Treasurer's death, resignation,
retirement or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in the Assistant Treasurer's possession or under
the Assistant Treasurer's control belonging to the Corporation.
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Section 13. Other Officers
 

  Such other officers as the Board of Directors may choose shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be
assigned to them by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors may delegate to any other officer of the Corporation the power to choose such other
officers and to prescribe their respective duties and powers.
 
 

ARTICLE V
 

STOCK
 

Section 1. Form of Certificates
 

  Shares of stock of the Corporation may be certificated or uncertificated, as provided under the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware, and shall be entered in the books of the Corporation and registered as they are issued.  Every holder of stock in the Corporation, upon written
request to the transfer agent or registrar, shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of the Corporation (i) by the Chairman of the Board of
Directors, the President or a Vice President and (ii) by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Corporation,
certifying the number of shares owned by such stockholder in the Corporation.
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Section 2. Signatures
 

  Any or all of the signatures on a certificate may be a facsimile.  In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose
facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be
issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such person were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.
 

Section 3. Lost Certificates
 

  The Board of Directors may direct new certificated or uncertificated shares be issued in place of any certificate theretofore issued by the
Corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be
lost, stolen or destroyed.  When authorizing such issue of new certificated or uncertificated shares, the Board of Directors may, in its discretion and as a
condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or such owner’s legal representative, to advertise
the same in such manner as the Board of Directors shall require and/or to give the Corporation a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against any
claim that may be made against the Corporation on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of such certificate or the issuance of such new certificated
or uncertificated shares.
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Section 4. Transfers
 

  Stock of the Corporation shall be transferable in the manner prescribed by applicable law and in these Bylaws.  Transfers of stock shall be
made on the books of the Corporation only by the person named in the books or by such person’s attorney lawfully constituted in writing, or if such shares are
certificated, only by the person named in the certificate or by such person’s attorney lawfully constituted in writing and upon the surrender of the certificate
therefor, properly endorsed for transfer and payment of all necessary transfer taxes; provided, however, that such surrender and endorsement or payment of
taxes shall not be required in any case in which the officers of the Corporation shall determine to waive such requirement.  Every share transferred,
exchanged, returned or surrendered to the Corporation shall be cancelled, and with respect to a certificated share marked “Cancelled,” with a notation as to
the date of cancellation, by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Corporation or the transfer agent thereof.  No transfer of stock shall be valid as against
the Corporation for any purpose until it shall have been entered in the stock records of the Corporation by an entry showing from and to whom transferred.
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Section 5. Dividend Record Date
 

  In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment
of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other
lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is
adopted, and which record date shall be not more than sixty (60) days prior to such action.  If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining
stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto.
 

Section 6. Record Owners
 

  The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive
dividends, and to vote as such owner, and to hold liable for calls and assessments a person registered on its books as the owner of shares, and shall not be
bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or
other notice thereof, except as otherwise required by law.
 

Section 7. Transfer and Registry Agents
 

  The Corporation may from time to time maintain one or more transfer offices or agencies and registry offices or agencies at such place or
places as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.
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ARTICLE VI

 
NOTICES

 
Section 1. Notices

 
  Whenever written notice is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to be given to any director, member of a

committee or stockholder, such notice may be given by mail, addressed to such director, member of a committee or stockholder, at such person's address as it
appears on the records of the Corporation, with postage thereon prepaid, and such notice shall be deemed to be given at the time when the same shall be
deposited in the United States mail.  Written notice may also be given personally or by telegram, telex or cable.
 

Section 2. Waivers of Notice
 

  Whenever any notice is required by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to be given to any director, member of
a committee or stockholder, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall
be deemed equivalent thereto.  Attendance of a person at a meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a waiver of notice of such
meeting, except where the person attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of any business
because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.  Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any Annual or Special Meeting of
Stockholders or any regular or special meeting of the directors or members of a committee of directors need be specified in any written waiver of notice
unless so required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.
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ARTICLE VII

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS

 
Section 1. Dividends

 
  Dividends upon the capital stock of the Corporation, subject to the requirements of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

(the “DGCL”) and the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, if any, may be declared by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting of the
Board of Directors (or any action by written consent in lieu thereof in accordance with Section 8 of Article III hereof), and may be paid in cash, in property,
or in shares of the Corporation's capital stock.  Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Corporation available for
dividends such sum or sums as the Board of Directors from time to time, in its absolute discretion, deems proper as a reserve or reserves to meet
contingencies, or for purchasing any of the shares of capital stock, warrants, rights, options, bonds, debentures, notes, scrip or other securities or evidences of
indebtedness of the Corporation, or for equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the Corporation, or for any proper purpose, and
the Board of Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve.
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Section 2. Disbursements
 

  All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers or such other person or persons
as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.
 

Section 3. Fiscal Year
 

  The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.
 

Section 4. Corporate Seal
 

  The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Corporation, the year of its organization and the words "Corporate Seal,
Delaware".  The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise.
 
 

ARTICLE VIII
 

INDEMNIFICATION
 

Section 1. Power to Indemnify in Actions, Suits or Proceedings other than Those by or in the Right of the Corporation
 

  Subject to Section 3 of this Article VIII, the Corporation shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a
party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in
the right of the Corporation), by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was a director or officer of the
Corporation serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in
connection with such action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to
the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person's conduct was
unlawful.  The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent,
shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that such person's
conduct was unlawful.
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Section 2. Power to Indemnify in Actions, Suits or Proceedings by or in the Right of the Corporation
 

  Subject to Section 3 of this Article VIII, the Corporation shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a
party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that
such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was a director or officer of the Corporation serving at the request of the Corporation as a
director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees)
actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good faith and in a
manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation; except that no indemnification shall be made in
respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Corporation unless and only to the extent that the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the
adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the
Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
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Section 3. Authorization of Indemnification
 

  Any indemnification under this Article VIII (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Corporation only as authorized in the specific
case upon a determination that indemnification of the present or former director or officer is proper in the circumstances because such person has met the
applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 1 or Section 2 of this Article VIII, as the case may be.  Such determination shall be made, with respect to a
person who is a director or officer at the time of such determination, (i) by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to such action, suit or
proceeding, even though less than a quorum, or (ii) by a committee of such directors designated by a majority vote of such directors, even though less than a
quorum, or (iii) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion or (iv) by the stockholders.  Such
determination shall be made, with respect to former directors and officers, by any person or persons having the authority to act on the matter on behalf of the
Corporation.  To the extent, however, that a present or former director or officer of the Corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense
of any action, suit or proceeding described above, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses
(including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith, without the necessity of authorization in the specific case.
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Section 4. Good Faith Defined
 

  For purposes of any determination under Section 3 of this Article VIII, a person shall be deemed to have acted in good faith and in a
manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, or, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding,
to have had no reasonable cause to believe such person's conduct was unlawful, if such person's action is based on the records or books of account of the
Corporation or another enterprise, or on information supplied to such person by the officers of the Corporation or another enterprise in the course of their
duties, or on the advice of legal counsel for the Corporation or another enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Corporation or
another enterprise by an independent certified public accountant or by an appraiser or other expert selected with reasonable care by the Corporation or another
enterprise.  The provisions of this Section 4 shall not be deemed to be exclusive or to limit in any way the circumstances in which a person may be deemed to
have met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 1 or Section 2 of this Article VIII, as the case may be.
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Section 5. Indemnification by a Court
 

  Notwithstanding any contrary determination in the specific case under Section 3 of this Article VIII, and notwithstanding the absence of
any determination thereunder, any director or officer may apply to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or any other court of competent jurisdiction
in the State of Delaware for indemnification to the extent otherwise permissible under Section 1 or Section 2 of this Article VIII.  The basis of such
indemnification by a court shall be a determination by such court that indemnification of the director or officer is proper in the circumstances because such
person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 1 or Section 2 of this Article VIII, as the case may be.  Neither a contrary determination
in the specific case under Section 3 of this Article VIII nor the absence of any determination thereunder shall be a defense to such application or create a
presumption that the director or officer seeking indemnification has not met any applicable standard of conduct.  Notice of any application for indemnification
pursuant to this Section 5 shall be given to the Corporation promptly upon the filing of such application.  If successful, in whole or in part, the director or
officer seeking indemnification shall also be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such application.
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Section 6. Expenses Payable in Advance
 

   Expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by a present or former director or officer in defending any civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative action, suit or proceeding shall be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of
an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such person is not entitled to be
indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in this Article VIII.  Such  expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by other employees and agents may be
so paid upon such terms and conditions, if any, as the Corporation deems appropriate.
 

Section 7. Nonexclusivity of Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses
 

  The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VIII shall not be deemed exclusive of
any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws,
agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in such person's official capacity and as to action in another capacity
while holding such office, it being the policy of the Corporation that indemnification of the persons specified in Section 1 and Section 2 of this Article VIII
shall be made to the fullest extent permitted by law.  The provisions of this Article VIII shall not be deemed to preclude the indemnification of any person
who is not specified in Section 1 or Section 2 of this Article VIII but whom the Corporation has the power or obligation to indemnify under the provisions of
the DGCL, or otherwise.
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Section 8. Insurance
 

  The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is
or was a director or officer of the Corporation serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or
arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power or the obligation to indemnify such person against such
liability under the provisions of this Article VIII.
 

Section 9. Certain Definitions
 

  For purposes of this Article VIII, references to "the Corporation" shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any constituent
corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had
power and authority to indemnify its directors or officers, so that any person who is or was a director or officer of such constituent corporation, or is or was a
director or officer of such constituent corporation serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VIII with respect to the
resulting or surviving corporation as such person would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.  The term
"another enterprise" as used in this Article VIII shall mean any other corporation or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other
enterprise of which such person is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent.  For purposes of this Article VIII,
references to "fines" shall include any excise taxes assessed on a person with respect to an employee benefit plan; and references to "serving at the request of
the Corporation" shall include any service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such
director or officer with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person
reasonably believed to be in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner "not
opposed to the best interests of the Corporation" as referred to in this Article VIII.
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Section 10. Survival of Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses
 

  The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VIII shall, unless otherwise provided
when authorized or ratified, continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and
administrators of such a person.
 

Section 11. Limitation on Indemnification
 

  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article VIII to the contrary, except for proceedings to enforce rights to indemnification (which
shall be governed by Section 5 of this Article VIII), the Corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify any director or officer (or his or her heirs, executors
or personal or legal representatives) or advance expenses in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person unless such proceeding (or
part thereof) was authorized or consented to by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
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Section 12. Indemnification of Employees and Agents
 

  The Corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board of Directors, provide rights to indemnification and to the
advancement of expenses to employees and agents of the Corporation similar to those conferred in this Article VIII to directors and officers of the
Corporation.
 
 

ARTICLE IX
 

AMENDMENTS
 

Section 1. Amendments
 

  In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred upon it by the laws of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors shall have
the power to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Corporation's Bylaws.  The affirmative vote of at least a majority of the entire Board of Directors shall be
required to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Corporation's Bylaws.  The Corporation's Bylaws also may be adopted, amended, altered or repealed by the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the shares of capital stock entitled to vote in connection with the election of
directors of the Corporation.
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Section 2. Entire Board of Directors
 

  As used in this Article IX and in these Bylaws generally, the term "entire Board of Directors" means the total number of directors which
the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies.
 

* * *
 
Adopted as of:  May 7, 2008
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gary E. Holdren, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Huron Consulting Group Inc.;

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2009  By: /s/ Gary E. Holdren  
    Gary E. Holdren  
    Chairman, Chief Executive Officer  
    and President  



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gary L. Burge, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Huron Consulting Group Inc.;

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))  for the
registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2009  By: /s/ Gary L. Burge  
    Gary L. Burge  
    Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
 



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Huron Consulting Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Gary E. Holdren, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company for
the periods presented therein.

Date: April 30, 2009  By: /s/ Gary E. Holdren  
    Gary E. Holdren  
    Chairman, Chief Executive Officer

and President
 



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Huron Consulting Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Gary L. Burge, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of
the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:

1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company for
the periods presented therein.

Date: April 30, 2009  By: /s/ Gary L. Burge  
    Gary L. Burge  
    Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
 


